SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

FORM 8-K

Current report filing

Filing Date: **2022-07-13** | Period of Report: **2022-07-13** | SEC Accession No. 0001140361-22-025945

(HTML Version on secdatabase.com)

FILER

Innoviva, Inc.

CIK:1080014| IRS No.: 943265960 | State of Incorp.:DE | Fiscal Year End: 1231

Type: 8-K | Act: 34 | File No.: 000-30319 | Film No.: 221081700

SIC: 2834 Pharmaceutical preparations

Mailing Address 1350 OLD BAYSHORE HIGHWAY SUITE 400 BURLINGAME CA 94010 Business Address 1350 OLD BAYSHORE HIGHWAY SUITE 400 BURLINGAME CA 94010 6502389600

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): July 13, 2022

INNOVIVA, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware (State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation) 000-30319

(Commission File Number)

94-3265960

(I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

1350 Old Bayshore Highway, Suite 400 Burlingame, California 94010 (650) 238-9600

(Addresses, including zip code, and telephone numbers, including area code, of principal executive offices) (Former name or former address, if changed since last report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below):

- ☐ Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)
- □ Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)
- □ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))
- □ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

		Name of each exchange on which
Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	registered
Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share	INVA	The Nasdaq Global Select Market

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933 (§230.405 of this chapter) or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (§240.12b-2 of this chapter).
Emerging growth company □
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. \Box

Item 1.01. Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

Equity Purchase Agreement

On July 13, 2022, Innoviva, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Innoviva"), Innoviva TRC Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and wholly-owned subsidiary of Innoviva (the "Seller"), and Royalty Pharma Investments 2019 ICAV ("Purchaser") entered into a definitive equity purchase agreement (the "Purchase Agreement"), pursuant to which the Purchaser will acquire from Seller 750 Class A Units and 750 Class C Units (the "Seller Equity") of Theravance Respiratory Company, LLC (the "Company"), comprising all of Seller's ownership interest in the Company, for an upfront cash payment of approximately \$281.9 million and a potential \$50 million contingent sales-based milestone payment, on the terms and conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement. The Seller Equity represents a 15% economic interest in the Company, the primary asset of which is a royalty right with respect to TRELEGY^(R) ELLIPTA^(R). Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the Seller will retain all royalty rights with respect to ANORO^(R) ELLIPTA^(R) and RELVAR^(R)/BREO^(R) ELLIPTA^(R), and the Company will transfer to Innoviva prior to the closing all of its ownership interest and investments in InCarda Therapeutics, Inc., ImaginAb, Inc., Gate Neurosciences, Inc. and Nanolive SA.

In connection with the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, Theravance Biopharma Inc. ("Theravance") and the Purchaser have entered into a concurrent equity purchase agreement (the "Theravance Purchase Agreement"), pursuant to which the Purchaser will acquire from Theravance 2,125 Class B Units and 6,375 Class C Units of the Company, comprising all of Theravance's ownership interest and representing an 85% economic interest in the Company.

The closing of the transactions under the Purchase Agreement is expected to occur in July 2022, and is subject to customary conditions, including the simultaneous closing of the transactions contemplated by the Theravance Purchase Agreement and certain other customary conditions. Following the closing of the transactions under the Purchase Agreement and the Theravance Purchase Agreement, the Purchaser will own all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of the Company, including the Seller Equity.

Innoviva, the Seller and the Purchaser have made customary representations, warranties and covenants in the Purchase Agreement, including using commercially reasonable efforts to consummate and effectuate the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement. In addition, effective as of the closing, Innoviva, Theravance and Glaxo Group Limited, a United Kingdom corporation ("GSK") granted customary releases relating to conduct occurring prior to the closing.

The Purchase Agreement was unanimously approved by the board of directors of Innoviva.

In connection with the Purchase Agreement, Innoviva, the Company and GSK entered into an agreement amending the Collaboration Agreement between Innoviva, the Company and GSK dated as of November 14, 2002, as amended (the "Collaboration Agreement"). The amendments to the Collaboration Agreement address, among other things, sublicensing by GSK, royalty reporting requirements, and the timing and frequency of joint steering committee meetings between Innoviva and GSK regarding the commercialization of ANORO^(R) ELLIPTA^(R) and RELVAR^(R)/BREO^(R) ELLIPTA^(R).

The foregoing descriptions of the Purchase Agreement and the Collaboration Agreement do not purport to be complete and are each qualified in their entirety by reference to the Purchase Agreement and the Collaboration Agreement, respectively, which are attached hereto as Exhibit 10.1 and Exhibit 10.2, respectively. The Purchase Agreement and the Collaboration Agreement have been incorporated herein by reference to provide information regarding the terms of the Purchase Agreement and the Collaboration Agreement and are not intended to modify or supplement any factual disclosures about Innoviva or the Purchaser in any public reports filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") by Innoviva or the Purchaser. In particular, the assertions embodied in the representations, warranties and covenants contained in the Purchase Agreement were made only for the purposes of the Purchase Agreement, were solely for the benefit of the parties to the Purchase Agreement, and may be subject to limitations agreed upon by the contracting parties, including being qualified by information in confidential disclosure schedules provided by the Company in connection with the signing of the Purchase Agreement. These confidential disclosure schedules contain information that modifies, qualifies and creates exceptions to the representations and warranties set forth in the Purchase Agreement. Moreover, the representations and warranties in the Purchase Agreement were used for the purpose of allocating risk between Innoviva and the Purchaser, rather than establishing matters of fact. Accordingly, the representations and warranties in the Purchase Agreement may not constitute the actual state of facts about Innoviva or the Purchaser. The representations and warranties set forth in the Purchase Agreement may also be subject to a contractual standard of materiality different from that generally applicable to investors under federal securities laws. The Purchase Agreement and the Collaboration Agreement are included with this filing only to provide investors with information regarding the terms such agreements, and not to provide investors with any other factual information regarding the parties or their respective businesses.

Item 8.01. Other Events.

On July 13, 2022, Innoviva issued a press release announcing the execution of the Purchase Agreement. A copy of the press release is attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 and is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits

(d) Exhibits

EXHIBIT NO.	DESCRIPTION				
10.1	Equity Purchase Agreement, dated July 13, 2022, by and among Innoviva, Inc., Innoviva TRC Holdings LLC and Royalty Pharma Investments 2019 ICAV. †				
10.2	Third Amendment to Collaboration Agreement, dated July 13, 2022, by and among Innoviva, Inc., Glaxo Group Limited, and Theravance Respiratory Company, LLC.				
<u>99.1</u>	Press Release dated July 13, 2022.				
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).				

[†] Schedules and exhibits omitted pursuant to item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. Innoviva agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon its request.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Date: July 13, 2022 INNOVIVA, INC.

By: /s/ Pavel Raifeld

Pavel Raifeld Chief Executive Officer

EQUITY PURCHASE AGREEMENT

BY AND AMONG

INNOVIVA TRC HOLDINGS LLC,

ROYALTY PHARMA INVESTMENTS 2019 ICAV AND

SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF SECTIONS 9.1, 9.3, 9.11 AND 9.12,

INNOVIVA, INC.

JULY 13, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

		1 age		
SECTION 1 DEF	INED TERMS; RULES OF CONSTRUCTION	1		
1.1	Defined Terms	10		
1.2	Other Terms	10		
1.3	Rules of Construction	10		
SECTION 2 PUR	CHASE AND SALE OF EQUITY	11		
2.1	Purchase and Sale of Equity	11		
2.2	The Closing	11		
2.3	Deliveries at Closing	11		
2.4	Milestone Payment	12		
SECTION 3 REP	RESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLER	14		
3.1	Organization; Qualification and Power; Good Standing	14		
3.2	Ownership	15		
3.3	Authority; Execution and Delivery; Enforceability	15		
3.4	No Conflicts; Consents	15		
3.5	Collaboration Agreement and Master Agreement	15		
3.6	Intellectual Property	18		
3.7	Representations Related to the Company	19		
3.8	Litigation	22		
3.9	Compliance with Law	22		
3.10	No Undisclosed Events or Circumstances	22		
3.11	LLC Agreement	23		
3.12	Brokers	24		
3.13	Bank Accounts	24		
SECTION 4	SECTION 4			
REPRESENTATION	24			
4.1	Organization, Standing, Qualification and Power	24		
4.2	Authority; Execution and Delivery; and Enforceability	24		

4.3	No Conflicts; Consent; No Vote	24
4.4	Litigation	25
4.5	The Purchaser's Business Investigation	25
4.6	Condition of the Business	26

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

		Page
4.7	No Distribution; Investment Intent	26
4.8	Available Funds	26
4.9	Brokers	26
SECTION 5 C	OVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS	26
5.1	Preservation of the Company	26
5.2	Access to Information	27
5.3	Cooperation	27
5.4	Confidentiality; Authorized Disclosure	27
5.5	Efforts to Consummate	29
5.6	Expenses; Transfer Taxes	29
5.7	Other Payment Obligations	29
5.8	Transfers after the Closing Date	30
5.9	Further Assurances; No Impairment of the Purchaser's Rights	31
5.10	Taxes.	31
5.11	Theravance Biopharma EPA	32
SECTION 6 C	ONDITIONS PRECEDENT	33
6.1	Conditions to Each Party's Obligations	33
6.2	Additional Conditions to Obligations of the Purchaser	33
6.3	Additional Conditions to the Obligation of the Seller	34
6.4	Frustration of Closing Conditions	35
SECTION 7 T	ERMINATION	35
7.1	Termination of Agreement	35
7.2	Effect of Termination	36
SECTION 8 IN	NDEMNIFICATION	36
8.1	Survival	36
8.2	Indemnification	37
8.3	Notice of Claims	37

8.4	Limitations on Liability	38
8.5	Third Party Claims	38
8.6	Exclusive Remedy	39

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

			Page	
S	SECTION 9 GENERAL PROVISIONS			
	9.1	Binding Effect; Assignment	39	
	9.2	No Third-Party Beneficiaries	40	
	9.3	Notices	4(
	9.4	Specific Performance	4]	
	9.5	Headings	4]	
	9.6	Counterparts; Electronic Signatures	42	
	9.7	Entire Agreement	42	
	9.8	Amendments and Waivers	42	
	9.9	Severability	42	
	9.10	Governing Law	42	
	9.11	Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial	42	
	9.12	Parent Guaranty	43	

Exhibits

Exhibit A Master Consent

Exhibit BCollaboration AgreementExhibit CMaster Agreement

Exhibit D LLC Agreement

Exhibit E Assignment and Assumption Agreement

Exhibit F Release Agreement

Exhibit G Theravance Biopharma EPA

EQUITY PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This **EQUITY PURCHASE AGREEMENT**, dated as of July 13, 2022 (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), is entered into by and between Innoviva TRC Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (the "<u>Seller</u>"), Royalty Pharma Investments 2019 ICAV, an Irish collective asset-management vehicle (the "<u>Purchaser</u>") and, solely for the purpose of Sections 9.1, 9.3, 9.11 and 9.12, Innoviva, Inc. (formerly known as Theravance, Inc.) (the "<u>Parent</u>"). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in <u>Section 1</u> below.

WHEREAS, the Seller is the record and beneficial owner of the Seller Equity;

WHEREAS, the Seller and the Purchaser desire to enter into this Agreement pursuant to which the Seller will sell to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser will purchase from the Seller, all of the Seller Equity in accordance with and as permitted by the Master Consent, and the parties are entering into the other covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement; and

NOW, **THEREFORE**, in consideration of the foregoing, the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the adequacy and receipt of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

SECTION 1

DEFINED TERMS; RULES OF CONSTRUCTION

1.1 **Defined Terms.**

Capitalized terms used herein but not defined have the respective meanings given to such terms below.

"2022+ Royalty" the royalty payment payable to the Company under the Collaboration Agreement attributable to Net Sales of the Assigned Collaboration Product occurring from and after January 1, 2022.

"Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person who directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person. The term "control" means possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise. The terms "controlled" and "controlling" have meanings correlative thereto. For the avoidance of doubt and notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) an Affiliate of the Company shall (i) not include the Purchaser or its Affiliates prior to the Closing and (ii) include the Purchaser and its Affiliates from and after the Closing and (b) Theravance Biopharma is not an Affiliate of the Seller or the Company (or any Affiliate thereof).

"Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Antitrust Law" means any Applicable Law that is designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade.

"Applicable Law" means, with respect to any Person, any provision of federal, state, provincial, local or foreign law (including common law), statute, rule, regulation, ordinance, code, rule, Order, or other legal or administrative requirement of any Governmental Entity applicable to such Person.

"Arbitration" means, collectively, (a) that certain arbitration among Theravance Biopharma R&D, Inc., Triple Royalty Sub LLC, the Company and the Parent in connection with the LLC Agreement, first announced by Theravance Biopharma on September 26, 2019 and (b) that certain arbitration among Theravance Biopharma US Holdings, Inc., Triple Royalty Sub II LLC, the Company, the Parent and the Seller in connection with the LLC Agreement, first announced by Theravance Biopharma on June 10, 2020.

"Asset Distribution" means the distribution by the Company no later than immediately prior to the Closing of 100% of the Private Equity Assets to the Seller pursuant to the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E.

"Assigned Assets" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1 of the LLC Agreement.

"Assigned Collaboration Products" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1 of the LLC Agreement.

"<u>Bankruptcy Laws</u>" means, collectively, bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent conveyance, fraudulent transfer or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally.

"Books and Records" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 1.1 of the LLC Agreement.

"Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banking institutions in the State of New York are not required to be open.

"Class A Units" means Class A Units of the Company.

"Class B Units" means Class B Units of the Company.

"Class C Units" means Class C Units of the Company.

"Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

"Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

"Closing Date Purchase Price" means \$277,500,000 plus the TRC Cash Amount.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Collaboration Agreement" means that certain Collaboration Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2002, by and between the Parent and Glaxo Group Limited (and assigned in part to the Company), as amended by that certain amendment, dated April 11, 2006 and that certain amendment, dated March 3, 2014.

"Collaboration Product" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 1.12 of the Collaboration Agreement.

"Company" means Theravance Respiratory Company, LLC.

"Company Cash" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(c).

"Company Patents" means all Patents owned or controlled by the Company.

"Company Representations" means the representations and warranties set forth in *redacted*.

"Confidential Information" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4(a).

"Contract" means any legally binding agreement, loan or credit agreement, note, bond, guaranty, mortgage, indenture, instrument, lease, sublease, license, deed of trust, undertaking, commitment or other contract.

"Core Representations" means the representations and warranties set forth in *redacted*.

"Current Balance Sheet" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(g).

"Disclosing Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4(a).

"Disclosure Schedule" means the Disclosure Schedule delivered to the Purchaser by the Seller concurrently with the execution of this Agreement.

"Equity" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(b)(i).

"Expiration Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(b).

"Fundamental Representations" means the representations and warranties set forth in *redacted*.

"Governmental Entity" means any federal, state, provincial, local or foreign government or any court of competent jurisdiction, arbitral body, administrative, judicial or agency, department, political subdivision, commission, bureau or tribunal or other governmental authority, domestic or foreign.

"GSK" means Glaxo Group Limited, a United Kingdom corporation.

"GSK Patents" means all Patents within the "GSK Patents" (as such term is defined in Section 1.39 of the Collaboration Agreement), solely to the extent such Patents claim or cover the Assigned Collaboration Products including the making, using, selling, offering for sale or importation thereof.

"Income Tax" means any Tax based on or measured by reference to net income, income or any franchise tax.

"Indemnified Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.3.

"Indemnifying Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.3.

"Intellectual Property" means any and all of the following, as they exist in any jurisdiction throughout the world and under any international treaties or conventions: (a) patents, patent applications of any kind and patent rights (collectively, "Patents"); (b) registered and unregistered trademarks, trade names, service marks, trade dress, logos and designs, domain names, corporate names, packaging designs, slogans, rights to social media accounts, and other indicia of source, origin or quality, together with all goodwill associated with any of the foregoing, and registrations and applications for registration of any of the foregoing (collectively, "Marks"); (c) copyrights in both published and unpublished works (including without limitation all compilations, databases and computer programs, manuals and other documentation and all derivatives, translations, adaptations and combinations of the above), mask work rights and registrations and applications for registrations of any of the foregoing (collectively, "Copyrights"); (d) trade secrets and other confidential or proprietary information (including know-how, inventions and invention disclosures (whether or not patented or patentable and whether or not reduced to practice), ideas, research in progress, process technology, software development methodologies, algorithms, technical information, proprietary business information, customer and supplier lists, customer and supplier records, pricing and cost information, reports, plans, drawings, blue prints, data, databases, data collections, designs, processes, formulae, schematics, blueprints, flow charts, models, strategies, prototypes, techniques, source code, source code documentation, testing procedures, testing results and business, financial, sales and marketing plans) and rights under Applicable Laws related to trade secrets in the foregoing (collectively, "Trade Secrets"); (e) rights of publicity and privacy and data protection rights; and (f) any and all other intellectual property rights and/or proprietary rights recognized by Applicable Law.

"Joint Inventions" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.46 of the Collaboration Agreement.

"Knowledge of the Seller" or "Seller's Knowledge" means the actual knowledge of Pavel Raifeld and Marianne Zhen on the date hereof, without independent investigation or duty of inquiry (and shall in no event encompass constructive, imputed or similar concepts of knowledge).

"Know-How" has the meaning given to "Theravance Know-How" in Section 1.93 of the Collaboration Agreement, solely to the extent relating to any Assigned Collaboration Product.

"LABA/ICS Combination Product" has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 1.49 of the Collaboration Agreement.

"<u>Liabilities</u>" means any and all claims, Losses, damages, deficiencies, assessments, penalties, debts, liabilities, commitments and obligations, whether contingent, fixed or absolute, direct or indirect, accrued or unaccrued, asserted or unasserted, matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, known or unknown, due or to become due, or determined or determinable, and regardless of whether arising out of or based upon any Contract, Applicable Law, tort, strict liability or otherwise.

"Licensed IP" means, collectively, the Licensed Patents, Know-How and Joint Inventions.

"<u>Licensed Patents</u>" means all Patents owned or controlled by the Company that (a) cover or claim any Assigned Collaboration Product including the making, using, selling, offering for sale or importation thereof and (b) are licensed by the Company to GSK under the Collaboration Agreement.

"<u>Liens</u>" means any mortgage, lien, security or priority interest, pledge, hypothecation, charge, claim, restriction or encumbrance.

"LLC Agreement" means that certain Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Company as amended and in effect as of the date hereof.

"<u>LLC Assets</u>" means the Trelegy Royalty, all Intellectual Property of the Company, the Company Cash and all other assets and properties owned, controlled, used, enjoyed or employed in the business conducted by the Company as of the date hereof.

"LLC Business" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1 of the LLC Agreement.

"Losses" means any and all damages, losses, claims, costs, liabilities and expenses, including as a result of any judgments, settlements or awards for monetary damages and for any reasonable fees and out-of-pocket expenses of counsel.

"Manager" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 1.1 of the LLC Agreement.

"Master Agreement" means that certain Master Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2014, by and among the Seller, Theravance Biopharma and Glaxo Group Limited.

"Master Consent" means that certain Master Consent, dated as of the date hereof, executed by GSK, Parent and Purchaser and delivered to the parties thereto immediately prior to the execution hereof in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, including all Exhibits and attachments thereto.

"Material Adverse Effect" means any fact, event, change, development or effect that, individually or in the aggregate, has or would reasonably likely have a material adverse effect on (i) the legality, validity or enforceability of any material provision of this Agreement, (ii) the ability of the Seller to perform any of its obligations hereunder or to consummate the Transactions, or (iii) the business, operations, liabilities or assets (including the right to collect or the timing, amount or duration of the Royalty and the other rights of the Company under the Collaboration Agreement) of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, none of the following shall be deemed to constitute, and none of the following shall be taken into account in determining whether there has been, a Material Adverse Effect: (1) any adverse change, event, development, or effect (whether short-term or long-term) arising from or relating to (a) general business, industry or economic conditions, (b) national or international political or social conditions, including the engagement by the United States in hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack upon the United States or any of its territories, possessions, or diplomatic or consular offices or upon any military installation, equipment or personnel of the United States, (c) financial, banking, or securities markets (including any disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any security or any market index), (d) any acts of God, including any epidemic, pandemic or disease outbreak (including in respect of COVID-19) or any law, regulation, statute, directive, pronouncement or guideline issued by a Governmental Entity, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the World Health Organization or industry group providing for business closures, "sheltering-in-place," curfews or other restrictions that relate to, or arise out of, an epidemic, pandemic or disease outbreak or any change in such law, regulation, statute, directive, pronouncement or guideline or interpretation thereof following the date of this Agreement or any worsening of such conditions existing as of the date of this Agreement; (e) changes in GAAP, (f) changes in Applicable Laws, (g) the taking of any action contemplated by this Agreement or the Related Documents or consented to by the Purchaser, or (h) the announcement, pendency or completion of the transactions contemplated hereby or by the Related Documents or the identity of the Purchaser; (2) any failure to meet a forecast (whether internal or published) of revenue, earnings, cash flow, or other data for any period or any change in such a forecast; (3) matters disclosed or referred to in the Disclosure Schedules; (4) any actions or omissions by the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates; and (5) any adverse change in or effect on the business of the Company that is cured before the earlier of (i) the Closing Date and (ii) the date on which this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 7.

"Member" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 1.1 of the LLC Agreement.

"Milestone Event" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a).

"Milestone Payment" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a).

"Milestone Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a).

"Minimum Royalty Threshold" means a minimum total amount of *redacted* of the Trelegy Royalty actually received by the Company (or its successor in interest), in respect of Net Sales during any calendar year ending on or before December 31, 2029 (equivalent to royalties on \$5 billion in Net Sales), subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

"Net Sales" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 1.61 of the Collaboration Agreement.

"Net Sales Report" means the quarterly reports deliverable by GSK to the Company pursuant to Section 6.4.2 of the Collaboration Agreement.

"Order" means any award, writ, judgment, decision, decree, injunction, assessment, decree, ruling, subpoena, verdict, order or other decision of a Governmental Entity.

"Organizational Documents" means the documents by which any Person (other than an individual) establishes its legal existence or which govern its internal affairs (including any certificate and/or articles of incorporation or organization, certificate and/or articles of formation or organization, constitutional documents, bylaws, declaration of trust or trust agreement, partnership agreement and operating agreement or limited liability company agreement, and any amendments to the foregoing).

"Other Combination Product" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 1.64 of the Collaboration Agreement.

"Other Theravance Agreement" is defined in Section 5.11.

"Parent" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Parent Guaranty" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.12.

"Pass-Through Tax Contest" is defined in Section 5.10.

"Pass-Through Tax Return" means any Tax Return for Income Taxes with respect to the Company if Seller (or any direct or indirect owner of Seller) would be liable as a matter of law for such Income Taxes, and shall include, for the avoidance of doubt, Internal Revenue Service Form 1065 and any similar or analogous state or local form of the Company.

"Permits" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(d).

"Permitted Liens" means any (a) mechanic's, materialmen's, and similar liens for amounts not yet due and payable, (b) statutory liens for taxes not yet due and payable or for taxes that the taxpayer is contesting in good faith, (c) other liens and encumbrances not incurred in connection with the borrowing of money that do not materially and adversely affect the use or value of the affected assets provided that, in each case, such liens are automatically released upon the sale or other transfer of the affected assets (it being understood that any obligations secured by such "Permitted Liens" in clauses (a), (b) or (c) shall remain the obligations of the Seller), and (d) Liens that will be released prior to or as of the Closing.

"<u>Person</u>" shall be construed in the broadest sense possible and means and includes, but is not limited to, an individual, a partnership (limited or general), a corporation, a limited liability company, an association, a joint stock company, a trust, a joint venture, an unincorporated organization or a Governmental Entity.

"Prime Rate" means the prime rate published by The Wall Street Journal, from time to time, as the prime rate.

"Private Equity Assets" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(b)(ii).

"<u>Purchase Price</u>" means (a) the Closing Date Purchase Price plus (b) if the Milestone Event occurs, the Milestone Payment required to be paid under this Agreement.

"Purchaser" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Purchaser Indemnified Parties" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(a).

"Receiving Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4(a).

"Related Documents" means the Master Consent, the Release Agreement and each other agreement, document, consent, certificate or instrument delivered pursuant to, or in connection with, this Agreement, the Master Consent or the Release Agreement.

"Release Agreement" means a release of claims and consent agreement by and among the Seller, Purchaser and Theravance Biopharma (or its Affiliates), executed and entered into concurrently with the execution of this Agreement and attached hereto as Exhibit F.

"Representatives" means, with respect to any Person, (a) any direct or indirect stockholder, member or partner of such Person and (b) any manager, director, officer, employee, agent, advisor or other representative (including attorneys, accountants, consultants, bankers, financial advisors and actual and potential lenders and investors) of such Person.

"Royalty" means fifteen percent (15%) of the Trelegy Royalty.

"Royalty Reduction" is defined in Section 3.5(m).

"Seller" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Seller Business" has the meaning ascribed to the term "Theravance Business" in Section 1.1 of the LLC Agreement, including the right to receive royalties and other payments related to the sale of ANORO® ELLIPTA® and RELVAR®/BREO® ELLIPTA® (and their related products and Intellectual Property).

"Seller Equity" means 750 Class A Units and 750 Class C Units of the Company.

"Seller Indemnified Parties" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(b).

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any entity of which a majority of the voting securities, other voting ownership or voting partnership interests that is sufficient to elect at least a majority of its board of directors or other governing body of such entity is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of its Subsidiaries.

"Tax Contest" is defined in Section 5.10.

"<u>Tax Returns</u>" means any return, report, information return or other document (including schedules or any related or supporting information) filed or required to be filed with any Governmental Entity or other authority in connection with the determination, assessment or collection of any Tax or the administration of any laws or administrative requirements relating to any Tax.

"Taxes" means, without limitation, any and all federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts, capital gains, franchise, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated, sales, use, goods and services, transfer, registration, value added, excise, natural resources, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, unclaimed property or escheat, imputed underpayment, windfall profit, environmental, customs, duties, real property, ad valorem, special assessment, personal property, capital stock, social security, unemployment, employment, disability, payroll, license, employee or other withholding, contributions or other tax, duty, custom, charge, or fee, of any kind whatsoever, whether disputed or not, imposed by any Governmental Entity, including any interest, penalties or additions to tax or additional amounts in respect of the foregoing and including any obligations by Contract or Applicable Law to indemnify or otherwise assume or succeed to the Tax liability of any other Person.

"Theravance Biopharma" means Theravance Biopharma, Inc., a Cayman Island corporation.

"Theravance Biopharma EPA" is defined in Section 5.11.

"Theravance Biopharma Transaction" means the Purchaser's acquisition of the Class B Units and Class C Units from Theravance Biopharma (or its Affiliates).

"Theravance Master Consent" means that certain master consent agreement, executed by GSK, Theravance Biopharma and Purchaser, which is being entered into immediately prior to the execution of this Agreement, including all Exhibits and attachments thereto.

"Third Party Claim" means any claim for Losses by a Person who is not a party to this Agreement asserted against any Indemnified Party arising out of, in connection with, relating to, or as a result of (a) the execution or delivery of this Agreement or any Related Documents or the consummation of any Transaction, (b) the performance by the parties to this Agreement or the Related Documents of their respective obligations hereunder or thereunder or (c) any actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory.

"Tipping Basket" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.4(a).

"Transactions" means the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Documents.

"TRC Cash Amount" means \$4,384,873.24.

"Trelegy" means, collectively, (a) the product known as "TRELEGY ELLIPTA" with the new drug application number of 203975, and (b) any other product that contains fluticasone furoate, umeclidinium, and vilanterol, in each case of (a) and (b), in any strengths, forms, formulations, administrations or delivery routes.

"Trelegy Rights" means all of the rights and benefits under the Collaboration Agreement relating to the Assigned Collaboration Products, including the rights and benefits specified on Exhibit C of the LLC Agreement.

"Trelegy Royalty" means, collectively, (a) any and all payments or other consideration in any form received or receivable by the Company or any of its Affiliates from GSK or any of its Affiliates or sublicensees under or pursuant to Sections 6.2 and 6.3 of the Collaboration Agreement relating to all Net Sales of the Assigned Collaboration Product occurring from and after January 1, 2022; (b) any payments to the Company under the Collaboration Agreement relating to Net Sales of the Assigned Collaboration Products that occurred from and after January 1, 2022, (d) any interest payments to the Company under Section 6.8 of the Collaboration Agreement relating to the Assigned Collaboration Products, (e) any payments to the Company under Section 6.10 of the Collaboration Agreement relating to the Assigned Collaboration Products, and (f) payments received or receivable by the Company or any of its Affiliates from a third party in lieu of any of the foregoing payments.

"Willful Breach" means a breach of a representation or warranty in this Agreement (i) that is or was a consequence of an intentional act or an intentional failure to act by the Seller (including in its capacity as manager of the Company) or its predecessors or Affiliates or (ii) that is made by the Seller with the Seller's Knowledge that such representation or warranty is untrue, inaccurate or incomplete.

"Withheld Trelegy Royalty" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(b).

1.2 Other Terms.

Other terms may be defined elsewhere in the text of this Agreement and, unless otherwise indicated, shall have such meaning throughout this Agreement.

1.3 Rules of Construction.

Except where expressly stated otherwise in this Agreement, the following rules of interpretation apply to this Agreement:

- (a) "either" and "or" are not exclusive and "include," "includes" and "including" are not limiting and shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation;"
- (b) "extent" in the phrase "to the extent" means the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase does not mean simply "if;"

- (c) "hereof," "hereto," "herein" and "hereunder" and words of similar import when used in this Agreement refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement;
 - (d) references to a Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns;
 - (e) definitions are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms;
- (f) unless otherwise indicated, references to an "Article", "Section" or "Exhibit" refer to an Article or Section of, or an Exhibit to, this Agreement, and references to a "Schedule" refer to the corresponding part of the Disclosure Schedule;
 - (g) references to "\$" or otherwise to dollar amounts refer to the lawful currency of the United States; and
- (h) references to a law include any amendment or modification to such law and any rules and regulations issued thereunder, whether such amendment or modification is made, or issuance of such rules and regulations occurs, before or after the date of this Agreement.

SECTION 2

PURCHASE AND SALE OF EQUITY

- Purchase and Sale of Equity. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Seller agrees to sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to the Purchaser at Closing, and the Purchaser agrees to purchase, assume and accept delivery from the Seller at Closing, the Seller's right, title and interest in and to the Seller Equity, free and clear of all Liens, in exchange for the Closing Date Purchase Price (to be paid to one or more bank accounts that were designated in writing by the Seller prior to the date hereof) and any Milestone Payment (to be paid in accordance with Section 2.4(e)).
- 2.2 **The Closing.** The closing of the Transactions (the "Closing") shall take place remotely on the third Business Day after all of the conditions set forth in Section 6 have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, including Section 6.2(g) and Section 6.3(f)), or at such other time or place as the Purchaser and the Seller may mutually agree in writing (the date on which the Closing actually occurs, the "Closing Date"). The Seller shall be deemed to have resigned, and hereby resigns, as the Manager of the Company, effective at the Closing, with no further action required on behalf of the Company.

2.3 **Deliveries at Closing.**

- (a) <u>Deliveries by the Seller</u>. At the Closing, or on such other date as is specified in this <u>Section 2.3</u>, the Seller shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Purchaser:
- (i) a good standing certificate for the Company issued by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and each jurisdiction in which the Company is qualified to do business, dated no earlier than ten (10) Business Days prior to the date hereof:

- (ii) a certificate executed by the Manager of the Company attaching and certifying as to the true and correct copies of the Organizational Documents of the Company;
 - (iii) the documents and instruments required to be delivered by the Seller under Section 6.2;
- (iv) a secure share-file link or a USB thumb drive containing copies of all documents uploaded to any data site maintained by or on behalf of the Seller or any other Person and made available to the Purchaser related to the Trelegy Royalty and the Transactions as of the date hereof;
 - (v) a validly executed IRS Form W-9 of Seller; and
- (vi) such other documents and agreements reasonably requested by the Purchaser as may be reasonably necessary to transfer, or to evidence the transfer of, the Seller Equity to the Purchaser.
- (b) <u>Deliveries by the Purchaser</u>. At the Closing, the Purchaser shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Seller:
 - (i) the Closing Date Purchase Price, in the manner specified in <u>Section 2.1</u>;
 - (ii) the documents and instruments required to be delivered by the Purchaser under Section 6.3; and
- (iii) such other documents and agreements reasonably requested by the Seller as may be reasonably necessary to consummate and evidence the Transactions.

2.4 Milestone Payment.

(a) If during any calendar year beginning with the calendar year in which the Closing occurs and ending with the calendar year ending December 31, 2029 (the "Milestone Period"), Net Sales of the Assigned Collaboration Products equal or exceed \$5,000,000,000 (irrespective of the amount of Trelegy Royalty actually paid or payable), or the Trelegy Royalty received by Purchaser or its Affiliates or designees or successors equals or exceeds *redacted*, the Purchaser shall pay the Seller \$50,000,000 in cash (the "Milestone Payment") in accordance with Section 2.4(e) below. For the avoidance of doubt, (i) the Milestone Payment shall be payable only once (if ever) during the term of this Agreement and (ii) any sale proceeds determined to be Net Sales, or any amounts that comprise Trelegy Royalty received after the calendar year during which the applicable sales occurred, including (A) any determination of Net Sales, or any payments received, a result of an audit of GSK, (B) delayed payments, (C) any determination that sale proceeds represent Net Sales or payments in lieu of Trelegy Royalty (whether by settlement, litigation or otherwise), and (D) amounts deemed to be Trelegy Royalty actually received by the Purchaser pursuant to Section 2.4(b) below, will be deemed to be Net Sales or amounts comprising Trelegy Royalty (as applicable) in respect of the calendar year during which the applicable sales giving rise to such Trelegy Royalty occurred for purposes of evaluating whether the Milestone Payment is payable in accordance with this Section 2.4. In the event that the Milestone Payment is payable, a "Milestone Event" shall be deemed to have occurred.

- (b) In the event that the Purchaser does not actually receive any Trelegy Royalty that is payable by GSK pursuant to the Collaboration Agreement with respect to the Milestone Period, to the extent resulting from (i) the Purchaser's (or any of its Affiliates') breach of the Collaboration Agreement, (ii) any other finally adjudicated, settled or otherwise resolved dispute, (iii) any arrangement between the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, on the one hand, and GSK or any of its Affiliates, or any of its or their licensees and sublicensees, on the other hand, or (iv) an act or omission of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, then any Trelegy Royalty withheld by GSK as a result thereof will be deemed a Trelegy Royalty actually received with respect to the applicable calendar year and added to any other applicable Trelegy Royalty for purposes of such applicable calendar year, for purposes of determining whether the Minimum Royalty Threshold has been met (any of the foregoing in Section 2.4(b)(i), (ii) or (iii), a "Withheld Trelegy Royalty").
- (c) In the event of any Trelegy Royalty that is payable but not timely paid by GSK, the Purchaser shall notify the Seller of such and reasonably describe the withheld amount and material information regarding such withholding, within ten (10) Business Days following receipt of such payment, and, upon the written request of the Seller, the Purchaser shall reasonably cooperate with the Seller and provide reasonable details relating to such Withheld Trelegy Royalty to ascertain whether the Trelegy Royalty constitutes a Withheld Trelegy Royalty, subject to any confidentiality obligations to GSK (as such obligations are modified by the Master Consent and the Theravance Master Consent).
- (d) The Seller hereby agrees and acknowledges that the Milestone Payment is a contingent payment obligation of the Purchaser and there can be no assurance regarding the occurrence of the Milestone Event. Without limiting the foregoing, the Purchaser covenants and agrees that:
- (i) it will not take any action, or fail to take any action with the intent or purpose that such action or inaction would have the effect of making it materially less likely for the Milestone Event to occur;
- (ii) until the expiration of the Milestone Period and the payment of the Milestone Payment (if payable) or the final determination that no Milestone Event has occurred during the Milestone Period, Purchaser shall not sell, assign or otherwise transfer, or grant any Lien upon or otherwise encumber, directly or indirectly, the equity interests in the Company, the Company's right to the Royalty or any other rights under the Collaboration Agreement (any such transaction, a "Royalty Transfer"), unless Purchaser can establish to the satisfaction of the Seller (acting reasonably and in good faith) that the Purchaser has sufficient liquid assets to satisfy the Milestone Payment if due and that Seller's rights to the Milestone Payment are not otherwise materially harmed by such transaction; it being understood and agreed that in the event of any Royalty Transfer made or proposed in violation of the foregoing, Seller shall be immediately entitled to payment of the Milestone Payment and shall further be entitled to an injunction or other equitable relief (including a temporary restraining order) enjoining such Royalty Transfer until the Milestone Payment is paid;

- (iii) until the expiration of the Milestone Period and the payment of the Milestone Payment (if payable) or the final determination that no Milestone Event has occurred during the Milestone Period, Purchaser shall (A) provide to Seller on annual basis, a written report setting forth in reasonable detail the Net Sales, Royalty and withheld Royalty during the preceding and the current calendar year, and a summary of any dispute or disagreements with GSK regarding the calculation of Net Sales or the Royalty, (B) provide to Seller any information reasonably requested in connection with Seller's evaluation of whether a Milestone Event has occurred, (C) use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent any limitation on the ability of Purchaser and its Affiliates to share information regarding Net Sales and the Royalty with Purchaser for purposes of this Section 2.4; and
- (iv) for purposes of this <u>Section 2.4</u> only, any amendment after the Closing to the definition of Net Sales or the terms, provisions or procedures with regard to the determination of Net Sales and payment of the Royalty that would have the effect of reducing the likelihood that a Milestone Event shall occur shall be disregarded, and such terms, provisions and procedures in effect immediately prior to the Closing shall be deemed effective in connection with any determination under this <u>Section 2.4</u>.
- (e) The Milestone Payment owed to the Seller by the Purchaser in accordance with this Section 2.4 shall be paid to the Seller by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account specified by the Seller in a writing delivered to the Purchaser in accordance with Section 9.3 of this Agreement within ten (10) Business Days following receipt of the applicable Net Sales Report(s) by the Purchaser, or receipt of other reasonable evidence by the Purchaser, evidencing the occurrence of the Milestone Event. A late fee of four percent (4%) over the Prime Rate (calculated on a per annum basis) will accrue on all unpaid amounts with respect to any Milestone Payment from the date such obligation was due.
 - (f) Any dispute or disagreement in respect of this <u>Section 2.4</u> shall be resolved in accordance with <u>Section 9</u>.

SECTION 3

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLER

Except as otherwise indicated on the Disclosure Schedules, the Seller represents and warrants to the Purchaser as follows:

Organization; Qualification and Power; Good Standing. The Seller is a limited liability company, duly organized, licensed, validly existing and in good standing under the Applicable Laws of the State of Delaware and has all requisite power and authority to own, lease, sublease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted. The Seller is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in corporate good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it or the character or location of the properties and assets owned, leased or operated by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified and in corporate good standing has not and would not reasonably be expected to have, either individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.

- 3.2 **Ownership.** The Seller is the legal and beneficial owner of the Seller Equity free and clear of all Liens, other than restrictions on transfer arising pursuant to applicable securities laws.
- 3.3 Authority; Execution and Delivery; Enforceability. The Seller and the Parent each have all requisite corporate or other company power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Related Documents. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related Documents, and the consummation of the Transactions, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Seller and the Parent. Each of this Agreement and the Related Documents has been duly executed and delivered and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Seller and the Parent enforceable against the Seller and Parent (as applicable) in accordance with its terms, subject to any limitations under Bankruptcy Laws.

3.4 No Conflicts; Consents.

- Assuming the validity and effectiveness of the Master Consent, the Theravance Master Consent and the Release Agreement, neither the execution and delivery by the Seller of this Agreement, the Related Documents nor the consummation of the Transactions, nor compliance by the Seller with any of the terms or provisions hereof or thereof: (i) violates or will result in a violation of, conflict with or constitute or results in a default (whether after the giving of notice, lapse of time or both) under, or accelerate any obligation under, any provision of the Organizational Documents of the Seller or results in a default (whether after the giving of notice, lapse of time or both) under, or accelerate any obligation under, any provision of the Organizational Documents of the Company, or the Collaboration Agreement or the Master Agreement; or (iii) (A) violates or will result in a violation of, or constitute a default (whether after the giving of notice, lapse of time or both) under, any provision of any Applicable Law or Order of, or any restriction imposed by, any court or Governmental Entity applicable to the Seller or the Company or any of its respective properties or assets, or (B) violates, conflicts with, results in a breach of, constitutes a default (whether after the giving of notice, lapse of time or both) under, accelerates any obligation under, or results in the termination of or a right of termination or cancellation under any material Contract to which the Seller or the Company is a party or any assets of the Seller or the Company are bound in a manner that, with respect to clause (B), would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) No Permit, Order, qualification of, or registration, declaration, notice or filing with, any Governmental Entity is required for or in connection with the execution and delivery by the Seller of this Agreement and any Related Documents and the consummation by the Seller or the Company of the Transactions, other than where the failure to obtain or deliver, as applicable, such Permit, Order, qualification, registration, declaration, notice or filing, would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

3.5 Collaboration Agreement and Master Agreement.

(a) <u>Collaboration Agreement and Master Agreement.</u> Attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u> and <u>Exhibit C</u> are true, correct and complete copies of, the Collaboration Agreement and the Master Agreement, respectively. The Seller has delivered, or caused the Company to deliver, to the Purchaser true, correct and complete copies of (i) all material communications since January 1, 2021 (x) between (A) the Company and (B) GSK and (y) between (A) the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) and (B) the Company or GSK, in each case relating to regulatory, safety or intellectual property matters affecting Trelegy, (ii) all communications since January 1, 2021 (x) between (A) the Company and (B) GSK and (y) between (A) the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) and (B) the Company or GSK, in each case that involve any matter that would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect and (iii) all Net Sales Reports provided to the Company (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) by GSK between January 1, 2021 and the Closing Date pursuant to Section 6.4.2 of the Collaboration Agreement.

- (b) No Other Agreements. The Collaboration Agreement, the Master Agreement and the LLC Agreement are the only agreements, instruments, arrangements, waivers or understandings between the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof other than the Company), on the one hand, and the Company, Theravance Biopharma (or its Affiliates) or GSK (or any predecessor or Affiliate of the foregoing), on the other hand, relating to the Assigned Collaboration Products (including the development or commercialization thereof) or the Trelegy Royalty, and there are no other agreements, instruments, arrangements, waivers or understandings between the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof), on the one hand, and one or more of the Company, GSK or Theravance Biopharma (or any predecessor or Affiliate of the foregoing), on the other hand, that relate to the Collaboration Agreement, the Master Agreement, the Licensed IP, the Assigned Collaboration Products (including the development or commercialization thereof) or the Trelegy Royalty.
- (c) No other agreement, instrument, arrangement, waiver or understanding exists between the Company (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) and Theravance Biopharma (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) or the Company (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) and GSK (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) that relates to the Collaboration Agreement, the Master Agreement, the Licensed IP, the Assigned Collaboration Products (including the development or commercialization thereof) or the Trelegy Royalty. The Strategic Alliance Agreement between the Parent and GSK, dated March 30, 2004, does not relate to the Assigned Collaboration Products (including the development or commercialization thereof), or the Trelegy Royalty.
- (d) <u>Validity and Enforceability</u>. Each of the Collaboration Agreement and Master Agreement is legal, valid, binding, enforceable against the Seller, the Parent and the Company and to the Seller's Knowledge, GSK (as applicable), and in full force and effect, except where enforceability may be limited by Bankruptcy Laws. The Company has the sole right, title and interest in and to the Trelegy Rights under the Collaboration Agreement. None of the Company, the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) and, to the Knowledge of Seller, any other party to the Collaboration Agreement or Master Agreement has repudiated any provision of any such agreement, and neither the Seller (nor any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) nor the Company has received any notice in connection with the Collaboration Agreement challenging the validity, enforceability or interpretation of any provision of such agreement, including the obligation to pay any portion of the Trelegy Royalty without set-off of any kind.

- (e) <u>Assigned Collaboration Product</u>. Trelegy is a (a) Collaboration Product, (b) an Other Combination Product launched after the LABA/ICS Combination Product, and (c) an Assigned Collaboration Product.
- (f) No Liens or Assignments by the Seller. The Seller (and any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) has not, except for Permitted Liens and as contemplated hereby, conveyed, assigned or in any other way transferred or granted any Liens upon or security interests with respect to all or any portion of its right, title and interest in and to the Trelegy Royalty, the Licensed IP or the Master Agreement. The Company has not, except for Permitted Liens and as contemplated hereby, conveyed, assigned or in any other way transferred or granted any Liens upon or security interests with respect to all or any portion of its respective right, title and interest in and to the Trelegy Royalty, the Licensed IP, the Collaboration Agreement or the Master Agreement.

(g) <u>No Waivers or Releases.</u>

- (i) The Seller (and any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) has not granted any material waiver under the Master Agreement and has not released the Company, Theravance Biopharma (or its Affiliates) or GSK, in whole or in part, from any of their respective material obligations under either of the Master Agreement or the Collaboration Agreement, in each case related to the Assigned Collaboration Products.
- (ii) The Company has not granted any material waiver under the Collaboration Agreement or the Master Agreement or released the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof), Theravance Biopharma (or its Affiliates) or GSK, in whole or in part, from any of their respective material obligations under the Collaboration Agreement, in each case related to the Assigned Collaboration Products.

(h) <u>No Termination</u>.

- (i) The Seller (and any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) has not (A) given the Company, Theravance Biopharma (or its Affiliates) or GSK any notice of termination of the Collaboration Agreement or the Master Agreement (whether in whole or in part) or (B) received any notice of termination of the Master Agreement or the Collaboration Agreement (whether in whole or in part).
- (ii) The Company has not (A) given GSK any notice of termination of the Collaboration Agreement (whether in whole or in part) nor (B) received any notice of termination of the Collaboration Agreement (whether in whole or in part).

(i) <u>No Breaches or Defaults.</u>

- (i) There is and has been no material breach or default under any provision of the Collaboration Agreement or the Master Agreement either by (A) the Seller (or any predecessor thereof) or (B) the Company, or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, GSK or Theravance Biopharma (or any predecessor or Affiliate of the foregoing).
- (ii) To the Knowledge of the Seller, there is no event that upon notice or the passage of time, or both, would reasonably be expected to (A) give rise to any breach or default, or (B) give rise to or permit the termination, modification or acceleration under, the Collaboration Agreement or the Master Agreement, either by the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof), the Company, GSK or Theravance Biopharma (or any predecessor or Affiliate of the foregoing).

(j) <u>P</u>	ayments Made.	The Company	has received	from GS	K the f	full amount	of all paymen	its reflected	as due
and payable pursuant to each N	Net Sales Report.								

(k) <u>No Assignments by the Seller, the Company, Theravance Biopharma or GSK.</u>

- (i) The Seller (and any predecessor or Affiliate thereof other than the Company) has not received notice of any assignment or other transfer by the Company, Theravance Biopharma or GSK or any of their respective predecessors of any of their rights or obligations under the Collaboration Agreement or the Master Agreement, in each case related to the Assigned Collaboration Products.
- (ii) The Company has not received notice of any assignment or other transfer by the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) or GSK or any of their respective predecessors of any of their rights or obligations under the Collaboration Agreement, in each case related to the Assigned Collaboration Products.
- (l) <u>No Indemnification Claims</u>. The Seller (and any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) has not notified any Person of any claims for indemnification under the Collaboration Agreement, and neither Seller (nor any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) nor the Company has received any claims for indemnification under the Collaboration Agreement whether pursuant to Article 12 or otherwise.
- (m) <u>No Royalty Reductions</u>. The amount of the Trelegy Royalty due and payable under Section 6.3 of the Collaboration Agreement is not, as of the date hereof, subject to any claim against the Company pursuant to any right of set-off, counterclaim, credit, reduction or deduction by contract or otherwise (each, a "<u>Royalty Reduction</u>").
- (n) <u>No Notice of Infringement</u>. Neither the Seller (nor any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) nor the Company has received any written notice from, or given any written notice to, GSK pursuant to Sections 13.2 or 13.3 of the Collaboration Agreement.
- (o) <u>Audits</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Section 3.5(o)</u> the Disclosure Schedule, no inspection or audit of books of accounts or other records pertaining to Net Sales, the calculation of royalties or other amounts payable to the Company under the Collaboration Agreement has been initiated pursuant to Section 6.10 of the Collaboration Agreement.

3.6 **Intellectual Property.**

(a) To the Knowledge of the Seller, Annex A to the LLC Agreement contains a complete and accurate list of all Company Patents. The Company Patents constitute all Patents within the Licensed Patents which relate to, claim, or cover the Assigned Collaboration Products or the making, using, selling, offering for sale or importation thereof. All of the right, title, and interest in and to the Company Patents were validly conveyed from Parent to the Company pursuant to the LLC Agreement. To the Knowledge of the Seller, the Company and GSK (or any predecessor or Affiliate of the foregoing) are collectively the sole owners of, and collectively have the sole interest in, all Patents within the Company Patents that cover or claim the Joint Inventions.

- (b) To the Knowledge of the Seller, there are no pending or threatened litigations, interferences, reexamination, oppositions or like procedures involving any Company Patent. Since January 1, 2019, neither the Seller (nor any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) nor the Company has been provided notice of any pending or threatened litigations, interferences, reexamination, oppositions or the like procedures involving any GSK Patents.
- (c) Except as would not have a Material Adverse Effect, all of the issued Company Patents related to the Assigned Collaboration Product are in full force and effect and have not lapsed, expired or otherwise terminated, and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, are valid and enforceable. Since January 1, 2019, neither the Seller (nor any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) nor the Company has received any written notice relating to the lapse, expiration or other termination of any of the issued Company Patents or GSK Patents, or any written legal opinion that alleges that any of the issued Company Patents is invalid or unenforceable.
- (d) (i) To the Knowledge of the Seller, there is no Person who is or claims to be an inventor under any of the Company Patents who is not a named inventor thereof and (ii) since January 1, 2019, neither the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) nor the Company has received any written notice of any claim by any Person challenging the inventorship or ownership of, the rights of the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) or the Company or GSK, as applicable, in and to, or the patentability, validity or enforceability of, any Company Patent or GSK Patent, or asserting that the development, manufacture, importation, sale, offer for sale or use of any Assigned Collaboration Product infringes any patent or other intellectual property rights of such Person.
- (e) To the Knowledge of the Seller the discovery, development, use, marketing, sale, offer for sale or importation of the Assigned Collaboration Products did not and does not infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate any Patents or other Intellectual Property owned by any third party, and, since January 1, 2019, neither the Seller (nor any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) nor the Company has received written notice of any of the foregoing. Neither the Seller (nor any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) nor the Company, has, except pursuant to the Collaboration Agreement, nor since January 1, 2019 has GSK provided written notice to the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) or the Company that GSK has, in-licensed any patents or other intellectual property rights covering the manufacture, use, sale, offer for sale or import of the Assigned Collaboration Products.
- (f) Since January 1, 2019, neither the Seller (nor any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) nor the Company has received written notice that a third party is infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating any of the Company Patents or GSK Patents.

3.7 Representations Related to the Company.

(a) Organization; Qualification and Power; Good Standing. The Company is a limited liability company duly organized, licensed, validly existing and in good standing under the Applicable Laws of the State of Delaware and has all requisite power and authority to own, lease, sublease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as presently conducted. The Company is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in corporate good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it or the character or location of the properties and assets owned, leased or operated by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified and in corporate good standing has not and would not reasonably be expected to have, either individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. The Company is not in default under or in violation of any provision of its Organizational Documents.

(b) <u>Capitalization</u>.

- (i) Section 3.7(b)(i) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the issued and outstanding equity interests of the Company, the record name of each owner thereof, and the class, series and number of equity interests in the Company owned by such holder thereof (the "Equity"); it being understood that with respect to the Equity interests not owned by the Seller or its Affiliates, the foregoing representation is made only to the Knowledge of the Seller. The Equity interests set forth on Section 3.7(b)(i) of the Disclosure Schedule comprise all of the equity interests of the Company and no other equity interests of the Company are issued or outstanding. All such Equity interests have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and non-assessable. All Seller Equity and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, all other Equity interests, are owned free and clear of all Liens (other than restrictions on transfer arising pursuant to applicable securities laws except as set forth in the LLC Agreement). No Equity interests have been issued in violation of any Applicable Law, or are subject to any preemptive or subscription rights granted by the Company or the Seller or its Affiliates. There are no declared or accrued but unpaid dividends or distributions on any of the Equity of the Company.
- (ii) <u>Section 3.7(b)(ii)</u> of the Disclosure Schedule contains a true, accurate and complete list of all investments held by the Company as of the date hereof immediately prior to the Asset Distribution (the "<u>Private Equity Assets</u>"). Immediately following the Asset Distribution and as of the Closing, the Company shall not have any Subsidiaries and shall not directly or indirectly own any equity, partnership, membership, joint venture, or similar interest in, or any interest convertible into or exercisable for any such equity, partnership, membership, joint venture, or similar interest in, any Person.
- (iii) There are no (a) outstanding options, warrants, rights, pledges, puts, calls, agreements, conversion rights, exchange rights, in each case, whether written or oral, convertible securities or other commitments or rights to purchase or acquire any unissued equity interests from the Company, or any other Contracts or commitments for the issuance, disposition or acquisition of any of the Equity or any rights or interests exercisable therefor issued by the Company; (b) outstanding or authorized equity appreciation, phantom equity, profit participation or similar rights with respect to the Company issued by the Company; (c) voting trusts or other understandings to which the Company is a party with respect to the voting of the Equity; (d) agreements or understandings to which the Company is a party creating any Liens on, or relating to the ownership of, any of the Equity; and (e) existing rights under any agreement or understanding to which the Company is a party with respect to registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, of any of the Equity.

- (c) <u>Company Assets</u>. Since the Company's formation, the Company has been engaged only in (i) the business of the collection and administration of the Trelegy Royalty and the making of private equity investments, which investments, as of the date hereof and immediately prior to the Asset Distribution are listed on <u>Section 3.7(b)(ii)</u> of the Disclosure Schedule, and (ii) other incidental activities directly relating thereto or directly arising therefrom. Immediately following the Closing, (A) the Purchaser shall be the sole owner of the Seller Equity and (B) the Company's material assets shall consist solely of the Trelegy Royalty and the Company Cash. The total cash of the Company as of the date hereof is *redacted* (the "<u>Company Cash</u>"), which amount includes the *redacted* paid to the Company with respect to the 2022+ Royalty for the first calendar quarter of 2022.
- (d) <u>Permits; Compliance with Applicable Laws</u>. The Company owns or possesses all material certificates, licenses, permits, consents, authorizations, franchises, accreditations, registrations, approvals, Orders and other authorizations of Governmental Entities required under Applicable Law for the conduct of its business as presently conducted (collectively, the "<u>Permits</u>"), and all such Permits are valid and in full force and effect, except where the failure to hold, or failure to be valid or in full force and effect, would not have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company is in compliance in all material respects with Applicable Law and, the Company has not received, as of the date hereof, any notice of any violation of any Applicable Law.

(e) <u>Taxes</u>.

- (i) The Company has timely filed (or caused to be filed) all income and other material Tax Returns (including Pass-Through Tax Returns) required to be filed by it with the appropriate taxing authority (taking into account any available extensions), and all such returns were correct and complete in all material respects;
- (ii) the Company has paid all income and other material Taxes due and owing (whether or not shown on any Tax Return);
 - (iii) there is no Lien for Taxes upon any of the assets of the Company, other than Permitted Liens; and
- (iv) the Company has not been served with process in respect of any proceedings by a taxing authority with regard to Taxes of the Company that are currently pending, and all deficiencies of Taxes asserted or assessments of Taxes made, if any, as a result of examinations of the Company have been paid in full.
- (f) No Litigation or Outstanding Indemnification Obligations. Other than matters which are subject to the Release Agreement, there is no actual or pending action, suit, investigation or proceeding before any Governmental Entity to which the Company is or is threatened in writing to be a party that, individually or in the aggregate would, if determined adversely, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company has no outstanding indemnification obligations owing to any Member, including in connection with the Arbitration.

- (i) the audited balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and the related statements of income and cash flows (or the equivalent) for the fiscal year then ended and (ii) the unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of June 30, 2022 and the related statements of income and cash flows (or the equivalent) for the fiscal quarter then ended (the "Current Balance Sheet"). Each of the financial statements referenced above (including in all cases the notes thereto, if any), fairly presents the financial condition of the Company as of the respective dates thereof and the operating results of the Company for the periods covered thereby and has been prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied throughout the periods covered thereby, subject, in the case of the foregoing clause (ii), to the absence of footnote disclosures (none of which footnote disclosures would, alone or in the aggregate, be materially adverse to the business, operations, assets, liabilities, financial condition, operating results, value, cash flow or net worth of the Company). As of the Closing Date, the Company has no liabilities of any type whatsoever whether or not accrued, absolute, contingent, matured, unmatured, known or unknown, on- or off-balance sheet except for (i) liabilities reflected or reserved against the Current Balance Sheet; (ii) liabilities incurred since June 30, 2022 in the ordinary course that do not, in the aggregate, exceed *redacted*; and (iii) those liabilities set forth on Section 3.7(g)(iii) of the Disclosure Schedule.
- 3.8 **Litigation.** There is no action, suit, investigation or proceeding pending before any Governmental Entity or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, threatened to which the Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Company) is a party that, individually or in the aggregate would, if determined adversely, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

3.9 Compliance with Law.

- (a) Neither the Seller nor any of any of its Affiliates (other than the Company) is in violation of, and to the Knowledge of the Seller, neither the Seller nor any of its Affiliates (other than the Company) is under investigation with respect to, nor has the Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Company) been threatened to be charged with or given notice of any violation of, any Applicable Law, which violation would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) The Company is not in violation of, and to the Knowledge of the Seller, the Company is not under investigation with respect to, nor has the Company been threatened to be charged with or given notice of any violation of, any Applicable Law, which violation would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 3.10 **No Undisclosed Events or Circumstances.** Except for the Transactions, no event or circumstance has occurred or exists with respect to the Company or its business, properties, operations or financial condition, which, under Applicable Law, requires public disclosure or announcement by the Seller but which has not been so publicly announced or disclosed and which, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. There is no action, suit, claim, investigation or proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, threatened against the Seller or the Company or any of their respective Affiliates which questions the validity of any of this Agreement, the Related Documents or the Transactions or any action taken or to be taken in connection with the Transactions.

3.11 LLC Agreement.

- (a) <u>Copies</u>. Attached hereto as <u>Exhibit D</u> is a true, correct and complete copy of the LLC Agreement. The Seller has made available to the Purchaser true, correct and complete copies of all capital accounts, audited financial statements, Tax returns of the Company for the last three (3) years.
- (b) <u>Enforceability</u>. The LLC Agreement is a valid and binding obligation of the Seller, the Company, and, to the Knowledge of Seller, Theravance Biopharma. The LLC Agreement is enforceable against the Members, the Manager and the Company in accordance with its terms, subject to any limitations on enforceability under Bankruptcy Laws. None of the Parent, the Seller or the Company has received any notice in connection with the LLC Agreement challenging the validity, enforceability or interpretation of any provision of such agreement, including the Company's right to receive the Trelegy Royalty without set-off of any kind.
- (c) <u>No Waivers or Release</u>. None of the Seller (or its predecessors or Affiliates) or Theravance Biopharma (or its predecessors or Affiliates) has granted any material waiver under the LLC Agreement or has released any other party, in whole or in part, from any of its material obligations under the LLC Agreement.
- (d) <u>No Termination, Dissolution or Winding-Up.</u> No party to the LLC Agreement (or any predecessor party to the LLC Agreement) has given any notice of termination, dissolution or winding-up of the LLC Agreement or the Company to any other party (or predecessor) to the LLC Agreement (whether in whole or in part). To the Knowledge of the Seller (and any predecessor or Affiliate thereof), no event has occurred that would give rise to the expiration or termination of the LLC Agreement or a dissolution or winding-up of the Company.
- (e) <u>No Breaches or Defaults</u>. There is and has been no material breach or default under any provision of the LLC Agreement by the Seller, and to the Knowledge of the Seller any other party thereto (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof), and there is no event that upon notice or the passage of time, or both, would reasonably be expected to give rise to any such breach or default by the Seller, and to the Knowledge of the Seller, any other party to the LLC Agreement.
- (f) <u>Payments Made</u>. As of the date hereof, the Company has no outstanding unresolved claim regarding payments due and payable under the LLC Agreement by the Company to the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof). <u>Section 3.11(f)</u> of the Disclosure Schedule lists all payments made to the Seller (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) and to Theravance Biopharma (or any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) under the LLC Agreement since January 1, 2019.
- (g) <u>No Indemnification Claims or Advances</u>. Except in connection with the Arbitration, none of the Members, Manager, Officer or any other Person has notified the Company of any claims for indemnification under the LLC Agreement, whether pursuant to Article 13 thereof or otherwise. As of the date of this Agreement, the Arbitration is no longer pending, and the Seller (and any predecessor or Affiliate thereof) has no outstanding payment obligations thereunder. Since January 1, 2019, no advances have been made to the Company pursuant to Section 4.5 of the LLC Agreement.

- 3.12 **Brokers.** No agent, broker, investment banker or other firm or Person engaged by or acting on behalf of the Seller is or will be entitled to any broker's or finder's fee or any other commission or similar fee in connection with the Transactions.
- 3.13 **Bank Accounts.** Section 3.13 of the Disclosure Schedule (a) lists the names, account numbers and authorized signatories of all banks and other financial institutions at which the Company has an account or safe deposit box and the name of each Person authorized to draft on or have access to any such account or safe deposit box and (b) contains a list of all cash and cash equivalents held by the Company as of the date hereof.

SECTION 4

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PURCHASER

The Purchaser represents and warrants to the Seller as follows:

- 4.1 **Organization, Standing, Qualification and Power.** The Purchaser is an Irish collective asset-management vehicle that is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the Republic of Ireland. The Purchaser is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which a license or qualification is required for it to perform its obligations under this Agreement, except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified and in good standing has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, either individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- 4.2 **Authority; Execution and Delivery; and Enforceability.** The Purchaser has all requisite right, power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of the Purchaser. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Purchaser and constitutes the valid and binding obligation of the Purchaser, enforceable against the Purchaser in accordance with its terms, subject to any limitation on enforceability under Bankruptcy Laws.

4.3 No Conflicts; Consent; No Vote.

(a) The execution and delivery by the Purchaser of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, nor compliance by the Purchaser with any of the terms or provisions hereof (i) violates or will result in a violation of, conflict with or constitute or results in a default (whether after the giving of notice, lapse of time or both) under, or accelerate any obligations under, any provision of the Organizational Documents of the Purchaser or (ii) violates or will result in a violation of, or constitute a default (whether after the giving of notice, lapse of time or both) under, any provision of any Applicable Law, or any restriction imposed by, any court of Governmental Entity applicable to the Purchaser or any of its properties or assets. No approval, vote or consent is required by the Seller's shareholders to approve this Agreement or to consummate the Transactions.

- (b) No Permit, Order, qualification of, or registration, declaration, notice or filing with, any Governmental Entity is required for or in connection with the execution and delivery by the Purchaser of this Agreement and the consummation by the Purchaser of the transactions contemplated hereby, other than where the failure to obtain or deliver, as applicable, such Permit, Order, qualification, registration, declaration, notice or filing, would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- 4.4 **Litigation.** There is no action, suit, investigation or proceeding pending before any Governmental Entity or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened to which the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates is a party that, individually or in the aggregate would, if determined adversely, reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- The Purchaser's Business Investigation. The Purchaser is a sophisticated Person, and has engaged expert advisors, familiar with transactions similar to those contemplated by this Agreement and has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that is capable of evaluation the merits and risks of such transactions. The Purchaser has negotiated this Agreement on an arms-length basis and has had an opportunity to consult with its legal and financial advisors concerning this Agreement and its subject matter. The Purchaser has conducted its own independent review and analysis of the Company, and its business, assets, condition (financial or otherwise), results of operations and prospects, and, based thereon, has formed an independent judgment concerning such business, assets, condition, operations and prospects. The Purchaser and its Representatives have been provided adequate access to the properties, premises and records of the Company for the purpose of such review and analysis. In entering into this Agreement, Purchaser affirms, acknowledges and agrees that it has relied exclusively upon its own investigation and analysis and only those representations and warranties of the Seller expressly contained herein and in the Related Documents, and Purchaser acknowledges that, other than as set forth in this Agreement and the Related Documents, none of Seller or the Company, or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, Affiliates, stockholders, agents or Representatives, makes or has made any representation or warranty, either express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information provided or made available to the Purchaser and its agents or other Representatives prior to the execution of this Agreement. The Purchaser has (a) had adequate opportunity to visit with the Company and meet with its Representatives to discuss the Company and its business, assets, condition (financial or otherwise), results of operations and prospects, and (b) received, to its full and complete satisfaction, all materials and information requested by the Purchaser or its Representatives and has been afforded adequate opportunity to obtain any additional information necessary to verify the accuracy of any such materials or information or of any representation or warranty made by the Seller herein or to otherwise evaluate the merits of the transactions contemplated hereby. Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, none of the Company, the Seller, any of its Affiliates or any Representatives of any of the foregoing has made any representation or warranty, either express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of any information provided or made available to the Purchaser or its Representatives prior to the date hereof. The Purchaser acknowledges that none of the Seller or any of its Affiliates are acting as a fiduciary or financial investment adviser to the Purchaser in connection with the Transactions, and has not given the Purchaser any investment advice, opinion or other information on whether the purchase of the Seller Equity is prudent.

- 4.6 **Condition of the Business.** Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, the Purchaser affirms, acknowledges and agrees that none of the Company, Seller or any other Person makes or has made any representations or warranties whatsoever, express or implied, as to the Company, the Seller or the transactions contemplated hereby beyond those expressly given by Seller in Section 3 (as modified by the Disclosure Schedules hereto, as supplemented and amended in accordance with this Agreement) or in the Related Documents. The Purchaser affirms, acknowledges and agrees that any claims the Purchaser may have for breach of representation or warranty shall be based solely on the representations and warranties of the Seller expressly set forth in Section 3 (as modified by the Disclosure Schedules hereto, as supplemented and amended in accordance with this Agreement) or in the Related Documents.
- 4.7 **No Distribution; Investment Intent.** The Purchaser is acquiring the Seller Equity for its own account with the present intention of holding such securities for investment purposes and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any public distribution of such securities in violation of any federal or state securities laws. The Purchaser is an "accredited investor" as defined in Regulation D promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act. The Purchaser acknowledges that it is informed as to the risks of the Transactions and of ownership of the Seller Equity. The Purchaser acknowledges that the Seller Equity has not been registered under the Securities Act or any state or foreign securities laws and that the Seller Equity may not be sold, transferred, offered for sale, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of unless such sale, transfer, offer, pledge, hypothecation or other disposition is pursuant to the terms of an effective registration statement under the Securities Act and are registered under any applicable state or foreign securities laws or pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act or and any applicable state or foreign securities laws.
- 4.8 **Available Funds.** The Purchaser has and will have sufficient cash on hand to pay the Purchase Price in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. The Purchaser acknowledges that its obligations under this Agreement are not contingent on obtaining financing.
- 4.9 **Brokers**. No agent, broker, investment banker or other firm or Person engaged by or acting on behalf of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates is or will be entitled to any broker's or finder's fee or any other commission or similar fee in connection with the Transactions.

SECTION 5

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

Preservation of the Company. The Seller agrees that, during the period from the date hereof through the earlier of the Closing or the date of termination of this Agreement, except to the extent the Purchaser shall otherwise consent in writing (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), the Seller shall cause the Company to conduct its business in the ordinary course and, except as otherwise provided in this Section 5.1, consistent with past practice. In furtherance thereof, the Seller shall not (a) sell, transfer, hypothecate, assign or in any manner convey or impose any Lien of any kind on (i) the Seller Equity (other than the sale to the Purchaser contemplated under this Agreement) or (ii) any rights or assets under the LLC Agreement or the Master Agreement, or (b) otherwise knowingly take any action (or refrain from taking any action) that would reasonably be expected to give rise to a breach or default or termination right under the LLC Agreement, the Master Agreement or the Collaboration Agreement. Additionally, the Seller shall not cause or permit to the Company to, and shall cause the Company to not, (a) except for the Asset Distribution, sell, transfer, dispose, distribute, hypothecate, assign or in any manner convey or impose any Lien of any kind on any LLC Assets, including (i) the Trelegy Royalty, or (ii) any rights or assets under the Collaboration Agreement, (b) incur any indebtedness for borrowed money, (c) acquire ownership of any equity, partnership, membership, joint venture, or similar interest in, or any interest convertible into or exercisable for any such equity, partnership, membership, joint venture, or similar interest in, any Person, or (d) knowingly take any action (or refrain from taking any action) that would reasonably be expected to give rise to a breach, default or termination right under the Collaboration Agreement or the LLC Agreement. The Seller agrees to provide written notice to the Purchaser as promptly as practicable, and in any event prior to the Closing, of the Seller becoming aware of any breach or breach threatened in writing, termination or termination threatened in writing, any modification, amendment waiver, or proposed modification, amendment of waiver of, to or under the Collaboration Agreement, the Master Agreement or the LLC Agreement. To the extent any LLC Assets are distributed or otherwise paid out of the Company prior to the Closing, except as expressly contemplated by this Section 5.1 or except as is deductible from the TRC Cash Amount to be paid to Theravance Biopharma at the closing of the Theravance Biopharma Transaction, the amount of such distribution or payment shall be deducted from the TRC Cash Amount to be paid to the Seller at Closing.

- 5.2 Access to Information. The Seller shall cause the Company to provide the Purchaser and its Representatives reasonable access upon reasonable notice during normal business hours from the date hereof until the Closing to all Books and Records, in each case, at the Purchaser's sole expense; <u>provided</u>, that (i) such access does not disrupt the normal operations of the Company and (ii) the Company is not under any obligation to disclose to the Purchaser any information the disclosure of which, in the reasonable judgment of the Company on the advice of outside legal counsel independent from GSK, is restricted by Contract (but taking into account the Master Consent and Theravance Master Consent), Applicable Laws, including Antitrust Laws, or is subject to attorney-client privilege or could result in the disclosure of any trade secrets of third parties or violate any obligation of the Company with respect to confidentiality.
- 5.3 **Cooperation.** The Seller shall, and shall cause the Company to, and the Purchaser shall, use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, and to cooperate with the other party to take any and all such actions as maybe be reasonably required to obtain, all such authorizations, approvals and consents from, or to make any applications, filings or other submissions to, any Governmental Entities as maybe be reasonably required in connection with the Transactions; provided however, in furtherance of the foregoing, in no event shall the Purchaser, Seller or the Company or any of their Affiliates be required to waive any material rights, amend any contracts, incur any material expenses or otherwise take any action that is materially detrimental to such Person.

5.4 Confidentiality; Authorized Disclosure.

- (a) Except as provided in this <u>Section 5.4</u> or otherwise agreed in writing by the parties, the parties hereto agree that, during the term of this Agreement and for five (5) years thereafter, each party (the "<u>Receiving Party</u>") shall keep confidential and shall not publish or otherwise disclose and shall not use for any purpose other than as provided for in this Agreement (which includes the exercise of any rights or the performance of any obligations hereunder) any information furnished to it by or on behalf of the other party (the "<u>Disclosing Party</u>") pursuant to this Agreement (such information, "<u>Confidential Information</u>" of the Disclosing Party), except for that portion of such information that:
- (i) was already known to the Receiving Party, other than under an obligation of confidentiality, at the time of disclosure by the Disclosing Party;

- (ii) was generally available to the public or otherwise part of the public domain at the time of its disclosure to the Receiving Party;
- (iii) became generally available to the public or otherwise part of the public domain after its disclosure and other than through any act or omission of the Receiving Party in breach of this Agreement;
- (iv) is independently developed by the Receiving Party or any of its Affiliates, as evidenced by written records, without the use of or reference of the Confidential Information; or
- (v) is subsequently disclosed to the Receiving Party on a non-confidential basis by a third party without obligations of confidentiality with respect thereto.
- (b) Either party may disclose Confidential Information to the extent such disclosure is reasonably necessary in the following situations:
 - (i) prosecuting or defending litigation;
 - (ii) complying with Applicable Laws, including regulations promulgated by securities exchanges;
 - (iii) complying with a valid Order;
 - (iv) for regulatory, tax or customs purposes;
- (v) for audit purposes, provided that each recipient of Confidential Information must be bound by customary obligations of confidentiality and non-use prior to any such disclosure;
- (vi) disclosure to its Affiliates and Representatives on a need-to-know basis, provided that each recipient of Confidential Information must be bound by customary obligations of confidentiality and non-use prior to any such disclosure;
 - (vii) upon the prior written consent of the Disclosing Party; or
- (viii) disclosure to its actual or potential investors and co-investors, and other sources of funding, including debt financing, or potential partners, collaborators or acquirers, and their respective accountants, financial advisors and other professional representatives, provided, that such disclosure shall be made only to the extent (A) that the Disclosing Party determines in good faith that the information to be disclosed is material to an investment in the Disclosing Party (or any Affiliate thereof) and is customarily required to consummate such investment, financing transaction partnership, collaboration or acquisition and that each recipient of Confidential Information must be bound by customary obligations of confidentiality and non-use prior to any such disclosure, or (B) that the information is the sales of the Collaboration Product and such information is to be included in the Purchaser's financial reports to its investors.

- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the Receiving Party is required to make a disclosure of the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information pursuant to Sections 5.4(b)(i), (ii), (iii) or (iv), it will, except where impracticable, give reasonable advance notice to the Disclosing Party of such disclosure and use reasonable efforts to secure confidential treatment of such information and to avoid and/or minimize the extent of such disclosure.
- (d) Except for a press release previously approved in form and substance by the Seller and the Purchaser or any other public announcement using substantially the same text as such press release, neither the Purchaser nor the Seller shall, and each party hereto shall cause its respective Representatives, Affiliates and Affiliates' Representatives not to, issue a press release or other public announcement or otherwise make any public disclosure with respect to this Agreement or the subject matter hereof without the prior written consent of the other (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), except as may be required by Applicable Law or stock exchange rule (in which case the party hereto required to make the press release or other public announcement or disclosure shall allow the other party hereto reasonable time to comment on such press release or other public announcement or disclosure in advance of such issuance).
- 5.5 **Efforts to Consummate.** Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each of the Purchaser and the Seller shall, and the Seller shall cause the Company to, use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action to do, or cause to be done, all things reasonably necessary under Applicable Law to consummate the Transactions; provided however, in furtherance of the foregoing, in no event shall the Purchaser, the Seller or the Company or any of their respective Affiliates be required to waive any rights, amend any Contracts, incur any material expenses or otherwise take any action that is materially detrimental to such Person. Without limiting the foregoing, promptly following the date hereof, the Company and the Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause signature authority for all bank accounts of the Company to be transferred to individuals designated by the Purchaser immediately following the Closing.
- 5.6 **Expenses; Transfer Taxes.** Except as otherwise specifically set forth in this Agreement, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement, the Related Documents and the Transactions shall be paid by the party hereto incurring such expense.

5.7 Other Payment Obligations.

(a) In the event that any 2022+ Royalty is paid directly to the Seller and not to the Company prior to the Closing (and is not contributed back to the Company by the Seller), the Seller agrees to pay such amount directly to the Purchaser within ten (10) Business Days of the Closing.

- (b) If, following the Closing, notwithstanding the terms of this Agreement, the Master Consent, the Theravance Master Consent, and the Collaboration Agreement, GSK makes any payment in respect of any portion of the 2022+ Royalty to the Seller (or to any of the Seller's Affiliates or designees) instead of to the Company, the Seller shall pay such amount to the Company, promptly (and in any event within ten (10) Business Days) after the receipt thereof, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by the Company. The Seller shall notify the Purchaser of such wire transfer and provide reasonable details regarding the 2022+ Royalty payment so received by the Seller. The Seller agrees that, in the event any such payment is paid to the Seller, the Seller shall (i) until paid to the Purchaser, hold such payment received in trust for the benefit of the Purchaser and (ii) have no right, title or interest in such payment and that it shall not pledge or otherwise grant any security interest therein.
- (c) If, following the Closing, the Company or the Purchaser (or any of their Affiliates or designees) receive any payment from GSK in respect of Net Sales of the Assigned Collaboration Products occurring prior to January 1, 2022 (irrespective of when such payment is received), the Purchaser shall pay fifteen percent (15%) of such amount to the Seller, promptly (and in any event within ten (10) Business Days) after the receipt thereof, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by the Seller. The Purchaser shall notify the Seller of such wire transfer and provide reasonable details regarding the payment from GSK so received by the Purchaser. The Purchaser agrees that, in the event any such payment is paid to the Company or the Purchaser, the Purchaser shall (and shall cause the Company to) (i) until paid to the Seller, hold such payment received in trust for the benefit of the Seller and (ii) have no right, title or interest in such payment and that it shall not pledge or otherwise grant any security interest therein.

5.8 Transfers after the Closing Date.

- (a) If, at any time after the Closing, the Seller acquires or determines that it possesses any assets related to the LLC Business (and not to the Seller Business) that constitute Assigned Assets, then the Seller shall as promptly as practicable transfer or cause to be transferred such assets to the Company, at the expense of the Seller, and the Company shall accept such transfer and/or assume, for no consideration, such asset, including any and all economic benefits generated from such asset after the Closing Date, to the Company. Each such transferred asset shall be deemed an Assigned Asset, respectively, and shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement applicable thereto.
- (b) If at any time after the Closing, the Company determines that it owns any assets that should have been distributed pursuant to the Asset Distribution, or that otherwise relate to the Seller Business, then the Purchaser shall cause the Company to, as promptly as practicable, transfer or cause to be transferred to the Seller (at Seller's expense) such assets, including any and all economic benefits generated from such assets after the Closing Date, for no consideration.

5.9 **Further Assurances; No Impairment of the Purchaser's Rights; Waiver.** After the Closing, the Seller and the Purchaser agree to execute and deliver, and the Purchaser agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause Theravance Biopharma (or its Affiliates) to execute and deliver, such other documents, certificates, agreements and other writings and to take such other actions as may be reasonably necessary in order to give effect to the Transactions and the transactions contemplated by the Theravance Biopharma EPA. For the avoidance of doubt, the Seller and the Purchaser agree that this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute any waiver, assignment, modification or amendment as may be required by the Seller (including in its capacity as the Manager and the holder of the Class A Units) under the LLC Agreement to effectuate the Transactions.

5.10 Taxes.

- (a) <u>Intended Tax Treatment</u>. For U.S. federal income tax purposes (and for purposes of any applicable state, local or foreign Tax law that follows the U.S. federal income tax treatment), the parties to this Agreement agree to treat the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Theravance Biopharma Transaction, together, in accordance with Rev. Rul. 99-6, Situation 2. Except as otherwise required pursuant to a final determination within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code or a corresponding provision of state, local or foreign Tax law, the parties (A) will, and will cause each of their respective Affiliates to, prepare and file all Tax Returns in a manner consistent with the immediately preceding sentence, and (B) will not, and will cause each of their respective Affiliates not to, take any position inconsistent with the immediately preceding sentence.
- (b) <u>Pass-Through Tax Returns</u>. After the Closing, Seller shall prepare or cause to be prepared all Pass-Through Tax Returns (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the final Form 1065 partnership return for the tax period of the Company ending on the Closing Date), provided, that (i) Seller shall provide a draft of each such Pass-Through Tax Return to Purchaser at least thirty (30) days prior to the due date of such Pass-Through Tax Return (taking into account available extensions) for its approval (not to be unreasonably withheld or conditioned), and shall consider in good faith any changes reasonably requested by Purchaser, and (ii) Seller shall timely file (or cause to be timely filed) such Pass-Through Tax Returns, as approved by Purchaser.
- (c) <u>Tax Contests</u>. Purchaser shall promptly notify Seller in writing following the receipt of any notice, or becoming aware, of any proceeding, audit or other similar examination with respect to any Pass-Through Tax Return (each, a "<u>Pass-Through Tax Contest</u>") or any other Taxes of the Company for which Seller has an indemnification obligation pursuant to this Agreement (each, a "<u>Tax Contest</u>"). Seller shall have the sole right, in its discretion, to control the conduct of any Pass-Through Tax Contest; provided, that Seller shall keep Purchaser reasonably apprised of the progress of such Pass-Through Tax Contest and Seller shall not settle such Pass-Through Tax Contest without Purchaser's prior consent (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). Purchaser shall have the sole right, in its discretion, to control the conduct of any Tax Contest; provided, that Purchaser shall keep Seller reasonably apprised of the progress of such Tax Contest and Purchaser shall not settle such Tax Contest without Seller's prior consent (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

- (d) Post-Closing Tax Actions. Without the prior written consent of Seller (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), Purchaser shall not (and shall cause its Affiliates, including the Company, not to) take any of the following actions: (i) file (except in accordance with Section 5.10(c)), re-file, amend or otherwise modify any Tax Return, (ii) extend or waive, or cause to be extended or waived, any statute of limitations or other period for the assessment of any Tax or deficiency related to any Tax Return, (iii) make, change or revoke any election or accounting method or practice related to any Tax Return, (iv) make or initiate any voluntary contact with a Governmental Entity regarding Tax Returns, in the case of each of clauses (i)-(iv), that relate to any Pass-Through Tax Return or any other Taxes of the Company for which Seller may have an indemnification obligation under this Agreement or (v) take any other action or make any Tax election with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, to the extent such action would be reasonably expected to result in the Seller (or their direct or indirect owners) being liable for additional Taxes (including pursuant to any indemnification obligation under this Agreement).
- (e) <u>Cooperation</u>. Purchaser, the Company, and Seller shall cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by any other, in connection with the preparation and filing of Tax Returns and any audit, litigation or other proceeding with respect to Taxes. Such cooperation shall include reasonably furnishing or making available during normal business hours each party's personnel; executing reasonably necessary powers of attorney; and retaining and (upon a party's request) providing records and information that are reasonably relevant to the preparation of any such Tax Return (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Pass-Through Tax Return) or to any such action, in each case as soon as practicable, and, in any event, no later than thirty (30) days after receiving a request. The Purchaser, the Company, and Seller shall (a) retain or cause to be retained all books and records that are in their possession with respect to Tax matters pertinent to the Company and its Subsidiaries relating to any pre-Closing period until the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations (and, to the extent notified by the Purchaser or the Seller, any extension thereof) for any audit or claim that could be brought with respect to the applicable taxable periods, and abide by all record retention agreements entered into with any Governmental Entity, and (b) give the other parties reasonable written notice, and, in any event, not less than thirty (30) days written notice, before transferring, destroying or discarding any such books and records and, if the other party so requests, the Purchaser or the Seller, as the case may be, shall allow the other party to take possession of such books and records.
- Theravance Biopharma EPA. Attached as Exhibit G hereto is a true, complete and correct, unredacted copy of the equity purchase agreement executed by the Purchaser and Theravance Biopharma (or any of its Affiliates), including all schedules and exhibits thereto (the "Theravance Biopharma EPA"). Other than the Theravance Biopharma EPA, the Theravance Master Consent, and the Related Documents, neither Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates have entered into any Contract with Theravance Biopharma or any of its Affiliates, whether or not written, related to the subject matter of this Agreement, including the transfer of the Equity to the Purchaser or that relates to payments associated with the sale or license of the Assigned Collaboration Products (collectively, an "Other Theravance Agreement"). The Purchaser shall not agree to amend or make any amendments to or waive any rights under the Theravance Biopharma EPA (including any right to indemnification), or enter into, amend or waive any rights under any Other Theravance Agreement after the date of this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Seller; provided that following the one year anniversary of the Closing, the Purchaser or its Affiliates may (i) agree to amend or make any amendments to or waive any rights under the Theravance Biopharma EPA (including any right to indemnification), provided that any such waiver or amendment would not reasonably be expected to have an adverse impact on the Seller (including in respect of its indemnification obligations hereunder) or (ii) enter into Contracts with Theravance Biopharma related to the Assigned Collaboration Products or royalties or other payments in connection therewith, so long as, in the case of clauses (i) and (ii), such agreement, amendment, waiver or Contract is negotiated on arms-length market-based terms in effect at such time.

SECTION 6

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

6.1 Conditions to Each Party's Obligations.

The respective obligation of each party hereto to consummate the Transactions on the Closing Date is subject to the satisfaction or waiver, at or prior to the Closing, of the following conditions:

- (a) <u>Governmental Approvals</u>. All waiting periods (and extensions thereof) (if any) applicable to the Transactions imposed by a Governmental Entity shall have expired or otherwise been terminated, and all other approvals, clearances, consents or permits of Governmental Entities required to be obtained prior to the Closing and the consummation of the Transactions shall have been obtained, in each case without any conditions thereto.
- (b) No Laws or Orders. No Applicable Law shall have been adopted, promulgated, entered, enforced or issued by any Governmental Entity or deemed applicable to the Transactions, and no permanent injunction or other Order of any Governmental Entity shall have been imposed or entered into and be in effect, and there shall not be any pending or overtly threatened proceeding by any Governmental Entity, in each case, which would, or seeks to, (i) prevent, restrain or otherwise impede the performance of this Agreement or the consummation of any of the Transactions, (ii) make illegal or declare unlawful the Transactions or (iii) cause such Transactions to be rescinded following consummation thereof.

6.2 Additional Conditions to Obligations of the Purchaser.

The obligation of the Purchaser to consummate the Transactions on the Closing Date is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by the Purchaser), at or prior to the Closing, of the following conditions:

(a) (i) The representations and warranties (other than the Fundamental Representations) set forth in Section 3 (without giving effect to any materiality or Material Adverse Effect qualifiers contained therein) shall be true and correct on the date hereof and on the Closing Date as though made at each such time (except to the extent such representations and warranties by their terms speak as of an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct as of such earlier date), except in each case to the extent that the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct would not have a Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) the Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all respects on the date hereof and on the Closing Date as though made at each such time (except to the extent such representations and warranties by their terms speak as of an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct as of such earlier date).

- (b) The Seller shall have performed and complied in all material respects with the agreements and conditions required by this Agreement to have been performed or complied with by it prior to or at the Closing.
 - (c) There shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Effect since the date hereof.
- (d) The Release Agreement, Theravance Biopharma EPA, Master Consent and Theravance Master Consent shall have been executed and delivered by the counterparties thereto and remain in full force and effect in the form attached to this Agreement.
 - (e) The Asset Distribution shall have been completed.
- (f) The Purchaser shall have received a certificate dated as of the Closing Date from the Seller, in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser, certifying that the conditions specified in Sections 6.2(a), 6.2(b), 6.2(c) and 6.2(e) have been fulfilled.
 - (g) The closing of the Theravance Biopharma Transaction shall have been consummated.

6.3 Additional Conditions to the Obligation of the Seller.

The obligation of the Seller to consummate the Transactions on the Closing Date is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by the Seller), at or prior to the Closing, of the following conditions:

- (a) The representations and warranties set forth in <u>Section 4</u> (without giving effect to any materiality qualifiers contained therein) shall be true and correct on the date hereof and on the Closing Date as though made on such date (except to the extent such representations and warranties by their terms speak as of an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct as of such earlier date), except in each case to the extent that the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably expected to interfere with, impair, delay or have any adverse effect whatsoever on the consummation by the Purchaser of the transactions contemplated hereby, or the performance of any of its obligations hereunder, including with respect to the Milestone Payment.
- (b) The Purchaser shall have performed and complied in all material respects with the agreements and conditions required by this Agreement to have been performed or complied with by it prior to or at the Closing.
- (c) The Seller shall have received a certificate from the Purchaser, dated as of the Closing Date, signed by a duly authorized person of RP Management, LLC, as the manager of the Purchaser, certifying that the conditions specified in <u>Sections 6.3(a)</u>, <u>6.3(b)</u> and <u>6.3(f)</u> have been fulfilled.

- (d) The Asset Distribution shall have been completed.
- (e) The Release Agreement, Theravance Biopharma EPA, Master Consent and Theravance Master Consent shall have been executed and delivered by the counterparties thereto and remain in full force and effect in the form attached to this Agreement.
 - (f) The closing of the Theravance Biopharma Transaction shall have been consummated.
- 6.4 **Frustration of Closing Conditions.** No party hereto may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in <u>Sections 6.1</u>, 6.2 or 6.3, as the case may be, if such failure was caused by such party's failure to comply with any provision of this Agreement.

SECTION 7

TERMINATION

7.1 **Termination of Agreement.**

This Agreement may be terminated:

- (a) at any time prior to the Closing Date by mutual written consent of the Seller and the Purchaser;
- (b) by either the Seller or the Purchaser by written notice to the other party, if the Closing has not taken place on or before the date that is thirty (30) Business Days from the date hereof (the "Expiration Date"), or such later date as the Seller and the Purchaser may agree in writing if the Closing shall not have been consummated by the Expiration Date; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under Section 7.1(b) shall not be available to any party hereto whose material breach of any representation, warranty or covenant contained in this Agreement has been the principal cause of the failure of the Closing to be consummated by such time:
- by the Seller if the Purchaser breaches in any material respect any of its representations or warranties contained in Section 4 or breaches or fails to perform in any material respect any of its covenants or obligations contained in this Agreement or the Related Documents, in each case, which breach or failure to perform (i) would render a condition precedent to the Seller's obligations set forth in Sections 6.1 or 6.3 not capable of being satisfied prior to the Expiration Date; and (ii) after the giving of written notice of such breach or failure to perform to the Purchaser by the Seller, cannot be cured or, if curable, has not been cured by the earlier of the Expiration Date and ten (10) Business Days after the delivery of such notice; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 7.1(c) shall not be available to the Seller if the Seller is then in breach of any representation, warranty or covenant contained in this Agreement or the Related Documents and such breach causes or would reasonably be expected to cause any of the conditions to the obligations of the Purchaser as set forth in Sections 6.1 or 6.2 not to be satisfied;

- (d) by the Purchaser if the Seller breaches in any material respect, any of its representations or warranties contained in Section 3, or if the Seller breaches or fails to perform in any material respect any of its covenants or obligations contained in this Agreement or the Related Documents, in each case, which breach or failure to perform (i) would render a condition precedent to the Purchaser's obligations set forth in Sections 6.1 or 6.2 not capable of being satisfied prior to the Expiration Date; and (ii) after the giving of written notice of such breach or failure to perform to the Seller by the Purchaser, cannot be cured or, if curable, has not been cured by the earlier of the Expiration Date and ten (10) Business Days after the delivery of such notice; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 7.1(d) shall not be available to the Purchaser if the Purchaser is then in material breach of any representation, warranty or covenant contained in this Agreement and such breach causes or would reasonably be expected to cause any of the conditions to the obligations of the Seller as set forth in Sections 6.1 or 6.3 not to be satisfied; or
- (e) by the Purchaser upon the occurrence of a Material Adverse Effect if such Material Adverse Effect is not capable of being cured, or, if curable, would not reasonably be expected to be cured by the Expiration Date.
- 7.2 **Effect of Termination.** If this Agreement is validly terminated in accordance with Section 7.1, this Agreement shall become null and void and of no further force and effect, except for the provisions of Section 5.4 (Confidentiality; Authorized Disclosure), Section 5.6 (Expenses), this Section 7.2, Section 8 (Indemnification) and Section 9 (General Provisions). Termination of the Agreement shall not relieve any party of liability in respect of breaches under this Agreement by any party on or prior to termination.

SECTION 8

INDEMNIFICATION

8.1 **Survival.** The representations and warranties of the Seller contained in Section 3 of this Agreement shall survive for *redacted* following the Closing Date, except that (a) the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.7(e) (Taxes) shall survive until the date that is ninety (90) days after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations and (b) the Fundamental Representations shall survive indefinitely. The representations and warranties of the Purchaser contained in Section 4 of this Agreement shall survive indefinitely. (The survival periods referred to in each of the preceding sentences shall be referred to as a "Survival Period".) Either party must give notice to the other party of any claim for indemnification under this Section 8 in writing setting forth the specific claim and the basis therefor in reasonable detail prior to the expiration of the applicable Survival Period. Upon the end of the applicable Survival Period, the applicable representations and warranties shall expire and be of no further force or effect, except if a written claim or written notice is given under this Section 8 with respect to any breach of the applicable representation or warranty prior to the expiration of the applicable Survival Period, such claim and the applicable representation or warranty solely with respect to such claim (and not any other claim) shall continue indefinitely until such claim is finally resolved. All covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement or instruments delivered pursuant hereto shall survive until fully performed.

8.2 **Indemnification.** Subject to <u>Section 8.4</u>:

- (a) Following the Closing, the Seller hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Purchaser, its Affiliates, the Company, and their respective directors, managers, trustees, officers, agents and employees (the "Purchaser Indemnified Parties") from, against and in respect of (i) all Losses suffered or incurred by the Purchaser Indemnified Parties to the extent arising out of or resulting from (A) any breach of any of the representations or warranties of the Seller in this Agreement (other than the Company Representations) or (without duplication of the recovery of any Losses) under the Related Documents, or any certificate, document or instrument delivered hereunder or thereunder, (B) any breach of any of the covenants or agreements of the Seller in this Agreement or (without duplication of the recovery of any Losses) under the Related Documents, or any certificate, document or instrument delivered hereunder or thereunder, and (C) the Private Equity Assets and (ii) 15% of all Losses suffered or incurred by the Purchaser Indemnified Parties to the extent arising out of or resulting from Seller's breach of any Company Representations; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing clause (ii), but subject to the other limitations in this Agreement (including the limitations set forth in Section 8.4), the Purchaser Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to indemnification for all Losses arising or resulting from the breach of one or more Core Representations or Seller's Willful Breach of one or more Company Representations.
- (b) Following the Closing, the Purchaser hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Seller and its Affiliates and its and their directors, officers, agents and employees ("Seller Indemnified Parties") from, against and in respect of all Losses suffered or incurred by the Seller Indemnified Parties to the extent arising out of or resulting from (A) any breach of any of the representations or warranties of the Purchaser in this Agreement or (without duplication of the recovery of any Losses) under the Related Documents, or any certificate, document or instrument delivered hereunder or thereunder, (B) any breach of any of the covenants or any certificate, document or instrument delivered hereunder, or (C) the operation of the Company or matters related to the Assigned Assets, each to the extent arising after the Closing.
- Notice of Claims. If either a Purchaser Indemnified Party, on the one hand, or a Seller Indemnified Party, on the other hand (such Purchaser Indemnified Party on the one hand and such Seller Indemnified Party on the other hand being hereinafter referred to as an "Indemnified Party"), has suffered or incurred any Losses for which indemnification may be sought under this Section 8, the Indemnified Party shall so notify the other party from whom indemnification is sought under this Section 8 (the "Indemnifying Party") promptly in writing describing such Loss, the amount or estimated amount thereof, if known or reasonably capable of estimation, and the method of computation of such Loss, all with reasonable particularity and containing a reference to the provisions of this Agreement or the Related Document, as applicable, in respect of which such Loss shall have occurred. If any claim, action, suit or proceeding is asserted or instituted by or against a third party with respect to which an Indemnified Party intends to claim any Loss under this Section 8.3, such Indemnified Party shall promptly notify the Indemnifying Party of such claim, action, suit or proceeding and tender to the Indemnifying Party the defense of such claim, action, suit or proceeding. A failure by an Indemnified Party to give notice and to tender the defense of such claim, action, suit or proceeding in a timely manner pursuant to this Section 8.2 shall not limit the obligation of the Indemnifying Party under this Section 8, except to the extent such Indemnifying Party is actually prejudiced thereby.

8.4 Limitations on Liability.

- (a) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Seller shall have no obligation to indemnify any Purchaser Indemnified Party pursuant to Section 8.2(a)(i)(A) or Section 8.2(a)(ii) unless and until the aggregate amount of all of the Purchaser Indemnified Parties' claims for indemnification for Losses under such Sections exceeds, on a cumulative and aggregate basis, *redacted* (the "Tipping Basket"), whereupon the Seller shall be obligated to indemnify any Purchaser Indemnified Parties pursuant to Section 8.2(a)(i)(A) or Section 8.2(a)(ii) for the aggregate amount of the Purchaser Indemnified Parties' claims for indemnification for Losses under such Sections, including those within such Tipping Basket amount. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, in no event shall the aggregate Losses to be paid by the Seller pursuant to Section 8.2(a)(i)(A) and Section 8.2(a)(ii) exceed *redacted*, except for Losses arising out of any breaches of the Fundamental Representations, the Core Representations or for the Seller's Willful Breach of any of the other representations and warranties made by the Seller in this Agreement or (without duplication of the recovery of any Losses) under the Related Documents, or any certificate, document or instrument delivered hereunder or thereunder; provided further that in no event shall the aggregate Losses to be paid by Seller pursuant to *redacted* exceed *redacted*.
- (b) No party hereto shall be liable for any consequential, punitive, special or incidental damages under this Section 8 (and no claim for indemnification hereunder shall be asserted) as a result of any breach or violation of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement of such party (including under this Section 8) in or pursuant to this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any party shall be entitled to make indemnification claims, in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 8, for Losses that include any portion of any royalty payment under the Collaboration Agreement that such party was entitled to receive but did not receive timely or at all due to the other party's breach of any covenant under this Agreement, and such entitlement to payment shall not be deemed consequential, punitive, special or incidental damages for any purpose of this Agreement.
- (c) Each Indemnified Party shall take all commercially reasonable steps to mitigate any Losses incurred by such party upon and after becoming aware of any event or condition that would reasonably be expected to give rise to any indemnification rights hereunder including pursuing any available insurance claims or claims against third parties. In no event shall any Indemnified Party be entitled to recover more than once for any Loss including with respect to a Purchaser Indemnified Party, recovery of Losses from Theravance Biopharma (and its Affiliates) under the Theravance Biopharma EPA or otherwise.
- Third Party Claims. Following the receipt of notice provided by a Purchaser Indemnified Party pursuant to Section 8.3 of any Third Party Claim, a Seller Indemnifying Party shall have the right to defend such claim, at such Seller Indemnifying Party's expense and with counsel of its choice reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser Indemnified Party. If the Seller Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of such claim, the Purchaser Indemnified Party shall, at the request of the Seller Indemnifying Party, use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate in such defense; provided, that the Seller Indemnifying Party shall bear the Purchaser Indemnified Party's reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with such cooperation. So long as the Seller Indemnifying Party is conducting the defense of such claim as provided in this Section 8.5, the Purchaser Indemnified Party may retain separate co-counsel at its expense and may participate in, but not control, the defense of such claim, and the Seller Indemnifying Party shall not consent to the entry of any Order or enter into any settlement with respect to such claim without the prior written consent of the Purchaser Indemnified Party unless such Order or settlement (A) provides for the payment by the Seller Indemnifying Party of money as sole relief (if any) for the claimant (other than customary and reasonable confidentiality and similar obligations relating to such claim, Order or settlement), (B) results in the full and general release of the Purchaser Indemnified Party from all liabilities arising out of, relating to or in connection with such claim, and (C) does not involve a finding or admission of any violation of any law, rule, regulation or Order, or the rights of any Person. In the event the Seller Indemnifying Party does not or ceases to conduct the defense of such Third Party Claim as so provided, (i) the Purchaser Indemnified Party may defend against such Third Party Claim, provided that it shall not consent to the entry of any Order or enter into any settlement with respect to, such claim absent the prior written consent of the Seller (not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned) unless such settlement or Order does require any payment or other obligation from any Seller Indemnifying Party (it being understood that any material breach of the foregoing shall relieve the Seller Indemnifying Parties from any indemnification obligation with respect to such Third Party Claim),(ii) subject to the limitations set forth in Section 8.4, the Seller Indemnifying Party shall reimburse the Purchaser Indemnified Party promptly and periodically for the reasonable out-of-pocket costs of defending against such claim, including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses against reasonably detailed invoices (subject to an undertaking from the Purchaser (or an Affiliate thereof) in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Seller to repay any such reimbursements if ultimately determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that the Purchaser Indemnified Parties were not entitled to indemnification hereunder) and (iii) the Seller Indemnifying Party shall remain responsible for any Losses the Purchaser Indemnified Party may suffer as a result of such claim to the full extent provided in this Section 8.

8.6 **Exclusive Remedy.** Except as set forth in Section 9.4, from and after Closing, the rights of the parties hereto pursuant to (and subject to the conditions of) this Section 8 shall be the sole and exclusive remedy of the parties hereto and their respective Affiliates with respect to any claims (whether based in contract, tort or otherwise) resulting from or relating to any breach of the representations, warranties covenants and agreements made under this Agreement or any certificate, document or instrument delivered hereunder, and each party hereto hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law, and agrees not to assert after Closing, any other claim or action in respect of any such breach. Notwithstanding the foregoing, claims for fraud and claims under the Related Documents shall not be waived or limited in any way by this Section 8.

SECTION 9

GENERAL PROVISIONS

9.1 **Binding Effect; Assignment.** This Agreement and all the rights and powers granted hereby shall bind and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. This Agreement and the rights, interests and obligations hereunder may not be assigned or otherwise transferred (in whole or in part and including by transfer by operation of law) by the Seller or the Parent without the prior written consent of the Purchaser. The Purchaser may, without the prior written consent of the Seller, assign or transfer this Agreement and its rights, interests and obligations hereunder (in whole or in part); provided, further, however, no such assignment or transfer by the Purchaser shall relieve the Purchaser of any of its obligations or agreements hereunder including to make payments of the Purchase Price to the Seller. Any attempted assignment or transfer in violation of this Section 9.1 shall be null and void.

- 9.2 **No Third-Party Beneficiaries.** Other than as expressly set forth in <u>Section 8</u> with respect to the Purchaser Indemnified Parties, the Seller Indemnified Parties and the Company, this Agreement is for the sole benefit of the parties hereto and their permitted successors and assigns and nothing herein expressed or implied shall give or be construed to give to any Person, other than the parties hereto and such successors and assigns, any legal or equitable rights hereunder.
- 9.3 **Notices.** All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be by e-mail (including with PDF attachment), facsimile, courier service or personal delivery to the following addresses, or to such other addresses as shall be designated from time to time by a party hereto in accordance with this <u>Section 9.3</u>:
 - (i) if to the Purchaser, to:

Royalty Pharma Investments 2019 ICAV 110 E. 59th Street, Suite 3300 New York, New York 10022 Attention: George Lloyd Email: *redacted*

with copies (which shall not constitute notice) sent to:

Goodwin Procter LLP
100 Northern Avenue
Boston, Massachusetts 02210
Attention: Arthur R. McGivern, Jacqueline Mercier & Robert M. Crawford, Jr. Email: AMcGivern@goodwinlaw.com,
jmercier@goodwinlaw.com and
RCrawford@goodwinlaw.com

(ii) if to the Seller, to:

Innoviva TRC Holdings LLC 1350 Old Bayshore Hwy, Suite 400 Burlingame, CA 94010 Attention: Pavel Raifeld Email: *redacted*

with copies (which shall not constitute notice) sent to:

Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP 787 Seventh Avenue New York, NY 10019-6099

Attention: Russell L. Leaf, Jared Fertman

E-mail: rleaf@willkie.com, jfertman@willkie.com

(iii) if to the Parent, to:

Innoviva, Inc. 1350 Old Bayshore Hwy, Suite 400 Burlingame, CA 94010 Attention: Pavel Raifeld Email: pavel.raifeld@INVA.com

with copies (which shall not constitute notice) sent to:

Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP 787 Seventh Avenue New York, NY 10019-6099

Attention: Russell L. Leaf, Jared Fertman

E-mail: rleaf@willkie.com, jfertman@willkie.com

All notices and communications under this Agreement shall be deemed to have been duly given (a) when delivered by hand, if personally delivered, (b) when received by a recipient, if sent by email, (c) when sent, if sent by facsimile, with an acknowledgement of sending being produced by the sending facsimile machine or (d) one Business Day following sending within the United States by overnight delivery via commercial one-day overnight courier service.

- 9.4 **Specific Performance.** Each of the parties hereto acknowledges and agrees that the other party hereto would be damaged irreparably in the event any of the provisions of this Agreement are not performed in accordance with their specific terms or are otherwise breached or violated. Accordingly, notwithstanding Section 8, each of the parties hereto agrees that, without posting bond or other undertaking, the other party hereto shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches or violations of the provisions of this Agreement and to enforce specifically this Agreement and the terms and provisions hereof in any action, suit or other proceeding instituted in any court of the United States or any state thereof having jurisdiction over the parties and the matter in addition to any other remedy to which it may be entitled, at law or in equity. Each party further agrees that, in the event of any action for specific performance in respect of such breach or violation, it shall not assert the defense that a remedy at law would be inadequate.
- 9.5 **Headings.** The headings contained in this Agreement, in any Exhibit or Schedule hereto and in the table of contents to this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

- 9.6 **Counterparts; Electronic Signatures.** This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Copies of executed counterparts transmitted by telecopy, facsimile or other similar means of electronic transmission, including "PDF" or DocuSign, shall be considered original executed counterparts, provided receipt of such counterparts is confirmed.
- **9.7 Entire Agreement.** This Agreement and the Related Documents, including the Disclosure Schedule, exhibits and other schedules attached hereto and thereto, constitutes the full and entire understanding and agreement among the parties with regard to the subjects hereof and thereof.
- 9.8 **Amendments and Waivers.** This Agreement may be amended, modified or supplemented only in a writing signed by Seller and Purchaser; <u>provided</u> that any amendment, modification or supplement to <u>Section 9.11</u>, <u>Section 9.12</u> or this <u>Section 9.8</u> shall also require the written consent of Parent. Any provision of this Agreement may be waived only in a writing signed by the parties hereto granting such waiver. The failure of any party to assert a right hereunder or to insist upon compliance with any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of that right or excuse a similar subsequent failure to perform any such term or condition by the other party. None of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Agreement can be waived except by the written consent of the party waiving compliance.
- 9.9 **Severability.** In the event that any provision of this Agreement becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, unenforceable or void, this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect without said provision; provided that no such severability shall be effective if it materially changes the economic benefit of this Agreement to any party.
- 9.10 **Governing Law.** This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule that would cause the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction.

9.11 Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.

EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY SUBMITS, FOR ITSELF AND ITS RESPECTIVE PROPERTY AND ASSETS, TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF ANY NEW YORK STATE COURT OR FEDERAL COURT OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA SITTING IN NEW YORK COUNTY, NEW YORK, AND ANY APPELLATE COURT THEREOF, IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, OR FOR RECOGNITION OR ENFORCEMENT OF ANY JUDGMENT IN RESPECT THEREOF, AND THE PURCHASER, THE SELLER AND THE PARENT EACH HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY AGREE THAT ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMINED IN ANY SUCH NEW YORK STATE COURT OR, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, IN SUCH FEDERAL COURT. THE PURCHASER, THE SELLER AND THE PARENT EACH HEREBY AGREE THAT A FINAL JUDGMENT IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER MANNER PROVIDED BY APPLICABLE LAW. EACH OF THE PURCHASER, THE SELLER AND THE PARENT EACH HEREBY SUBMITS TO THE EXCLUSIVE PERSONAL JURISDICTION AND VENUE OF SUCH NEW YORK STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS. THE PURCHASER, THE SELLER AND THE PARENT EACH AGREE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, THAT PROCESS MAY BE SERVED ON THE PURCHASER, THE SELLER OR THE PARENT IN THE SAME MANNER THAT NOTICES MAY BE GIVEN PURSUANT TO SECTION 9.3 HEREOF.

- (b) EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT IT MAY LEGALLY AND EFFECTIVELY DO SO, ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT IN ANY NEW YORK STATE OR FEDERAL COURT. EACH OF THE PURCHASER, THE SELLER AND THE PARENT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, THE DEFENSE OF AN INCONVENIENT FORUM TO THE MAINTENANCE OF SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN ANY SUCH COURT.
- (c) EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER DOCUMENT DELIVERED HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION HEREWITH, OR ANY TRANSACTION ARISING FROM OR CONNECTED TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING. EACH OF THE PARTIES REPRESENTS THAT THIS WAIVER IS KNOWINGLY, WILLINGLY, AND VOLUNTARILY GIVEN.
- Parent Guaranty. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 9.12, the Parent (i) hereby unconditionally guarantees the due and punctual payment and performance of all of the Seller's indemnification obligations under Section 8 of this Agreement or the Related Documents (taking into consideration, if and to the extent applicable, the Tipping Basket) and (ii) covenants to procure and cause the Seller to take such actions that may be necessary or useful to support and duly complete the performance of the Seller's obligations under this Agreement through the Closing (the "Parent Guaranty"). This Parent Guaranty is an irrevocable guaranty of payment and performance (and not just of collection) and shall continue in effect notwithstanding any extension or modification of the terms of this Agreement, any assumption of any such guaranteed obligations by any other party or any other act or event that might otherwise operate as a legal or equitable discharge of the Parent. The Parent hereby waives all its rights to subrogation arising out of any payment or performance by the Parent under this Parent Guaranty. The Parent hereby waives all its rights to subrogation arising out of any payment or performance by the Parent under this Parent Guaranty. The obligations of the Parent hereunder shall be absolute and unconditional, and shall not be affected by or contingent upon (a) the liquidation or dissolution of, or the merger or consolidation of the Seller with or into any corporation, or any sale or transfer by the Seller or all or any part of its property or assets, (b) the bankruptcy, receivership, insolvency, reorganization or similar proceedings involving or affecting the Seller, or (c) any modification, alteration, amendment or addition of or to the Agreement. The Parent hereby waives all suretyship defenses and protest, notice of protest, demand for performance or diligence which the Parent may otherwise assert against the Purchaser. This Parent Guaranty shall continue to be effective or shall be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any time payment or performance of any of the obligations of the Seller under this Agreement is rescinded or must otherwise be restored or returned by the Purchaser upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of the Seller or otherwise. The Parent acknowledges that each of the waivers set forth in this Parent Guaranty is made with full knowledge of its significance and consequences and under the circumstances the waivers are reasonable and not contrary to public policy. If any of said waivers is determined to be contrary to any applicable law or public policy, such waivers shall be effective only to the extent permitted by law. Nothing in this Section 9.12 shall modify the survival periods applicable to matters set forth in Section 8 of this Agreement and any of the limitations set forth in Section 8 of this Agreement, or the maximum liability of the Seller as set forth in this Agreement, all of which also shall apply to, and similarly limit, the Parent's obligations.

* * * * *

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Equity Purchase Agreement as of the date first set forth above.

INNOVIVA TRC HOLDINGS LLC

By: Innoviva, Inc. (its managing member)

By: /s/ Pavel Raifeld

Name: Pavel Raifeld

Title: Chief Executive Officer

ROYALTY PHARMA INVESTMENTS 2019 ICAV

By: RP Management, LLC, its Manager and lawfully appointed attorney

By: /s/ George Lloyd

Name: George Lloyd

Title: EVP & General Counsel

Solely for the purpose of Sections 9.1, 9.3, 9.11 and 9.12:

INNOVIVA, INC.

By: /s/ Pavel Raifeld

Name: Pavel Raifeld

Title: Chief Executive Officer

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO INNOVIVA EQUITY PURCHASE AGREEMENT]

Exhibit A

Master Consent

Exhibit B

Collaboration Agreement

Exhibit C

Master Agreement

Exhibit D

LLC Agreement

Exhibit E

Assignment and Assun	nption Agreement
----------------------	------------------

Exhibit F

Release Agreement

Exhibit G

Theravance Biopharma EPA

THIRD AMENDMENT TO COLLABORATION AGREEMENT

This Amendment to Collaboration Agreement (this "Amendment") is entered into as of July 13, 2022 and effective as of the date of the Theravance Closing (as defined below) (such date, the "Third Amendment Effective Date"), by and among (i) Innoviva, Inc. (f/k/a Theravance, Inc.), a Delaware corporation ("Innoviva"), (ii) Glaxo Group Limited, a private company limited by shares registered under the laws of England and Wales ("GSK"), and (iii) Theravance Respiratory Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("TRC"). This Amendment amends the Collaboration Agreement by and between Innoviva and GSK, dated as of November 14, 2002, as amended on April 11, 2006 (the "First Amendment") and March 3, 2014 (the "Second Amendment") (such agreement, as amended, the "Collaboration Agreement"). Innoviva, GSK and TRC are referred to in this Amendment individually as a "Party" and collectively as the "Parties".

WHEREAS, on November 14, 2002, Innoviva and GSK entered into the Collaboration Agreement, which was subsequently amended on April 11, 2006;

WHEREAS, in 2014, Innoviva separated Theravance Biopharma, Inc. ("Theravance Biopharma") into a separate and independent, publicly traded company from Innoviva (the "Separation") through a pro rata dividend of Theravance Biopharma ordinary shares to Innoviva stockholders, and in connection with the Separation, Innoviva assigned to TRC (a) that certain Strategic Alliance Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2004, as amended on September 13, 2004, February 11, 2005, February 8, 2006, February 27, 2006, February 27, 2009, June 22, 2009, July 16, 2010, October 3, 2011 and March 3, 2014, by and between Innoviva and GSK (as amended, the "Strategic Alliance Agreement"), and (b) certain of its rights and obligations under the Collaboration Agreement;

WHEREAS, in connection with the Separation, (i) Innoviva, Theravance Biopharma and GSK entered into (A) that certain Master Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2014, by and among Innoviva, Theravance Biopharma and GSK (the "Master Agreement") and (B) the Second Amendment, and (ii) pursuant to that certain Limited Liability Company Agreement of TRC (as amended, the "TRC LLC Agreement"), Theravance Biopharma and Innoviva became holders of all of the equity interests in TRC through which each of Theravance Biopharma and Innoviva indirectly hold an economic interest in certain programs and products under the Collaboration Agreement;

WHEREAS, (i) Theravance Biopharma, together with its affiliates, wishes to transfer all of its equity interests in TRC to Royalty Pharma Investments 2019 ICAV, an Irish collective asset-management vehicle (the "<u>Purchaser</u>"), pursuant to that certain Equity Purchase and Funding Agreement, dated as of the date hereof (including the schedules and exhibits thereto, the "<u>Theravance EPA</u>"), by and between Theravance Biopharma and the Purchaser, and (ii) Innoviva, together with its affiliates, wishes to transfer all of its equity interests in TRC to the Purchaser pursuant to that certain Equity Purchase Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and among Innoviva TRC Holdings LLC, the Purchaser and Innoviva (including the schedules and exhibits thereto, the "<u>Innoviva EPA</u>"); and

WHEREAS, effective upon the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Theravance EPA (the "<u>Theravance Closing</u>") and irrespective of whether or not the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Innoviva EPA (the "<u>Innoviva Closing</u>") occurs, the Parties wish to amend the Collaboration Agreement in accordance with the terms herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and the representations, covenants and agreements contained herein, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

- 1. <u>Definitions</u>. Capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the meaning given them in the Collaboration Agreement. In addition, the following definitions shall apply:
 - a. "Assigned Collaboration Product" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the TRC LLC Agreement attached as Exhibit E to the Theravance EPA.
 - b. "Retained Product" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the TRC LLC Agreement attached as Exhibit E to the Theravance EPA.
- 2. <u>Amendments</u>. Effective upon the Theravance Closing and irrespective of whether or not the Innoviva Closing occurs, the Parties hereby amend the Collaboration Agreement in accordance with the terms herein.
 - a. <u>Definitions</u>. Article 1 of the Collaboration Agreement shall be amended by the addition of the following definitions:
 - ""Innoviva" means Innoviva, Inc. (f/k/a Theravance, Inc.), a Delaware corporation."
 - ""TRC" means Theravance Respiratory Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company."
 - b. Section 2.2 of the Collaboration Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced with the following:
 - "2.2 Sublicensing and Subcontracting. GSK may sublicense or subcontract its rights to Develop, Manufacture or Commercialize the Collaboration Products in whole or in part to one or more of its Affiliates and/or to one or more Third Parties without the consent of Innoviva or TRC. GSK shall secure all appropriate covenants, obligations and rights from any such sublicensee or subcontractor granted by it under this Agreement, including, but not limited to, intellectual property rights and confidentiality obligations in any such agreement or other relationship, to ensure that such sublicensee can comply with all of GSK's covenants and obligations to Innoviva or TRC under this Agreement. "
 - c. Amendment of the Joint Steering Committee; Termination of Joint Project Committee; Marketing Plans.
 - i. Section 3.1 of the Collaboration Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 - "3.1 Joint Steering Committee. A Joint Steering Committee ("JSC") comprising representatives of GSK and Innoviva shall meet once per Calendar Year before the end of February, either in person or by videoconference. GSK shall not be required to have more than one (1) representative attend each JSC meeting provided that such representative is reasonably knowledgeable and informed regarding the commercialization and intellectual property protection of the Retained Products. Innoviva may have up to three (3) representatives attend each JSC meeting. The JSC's purpose and responsibility will be to review at such meeting the sales performance, and one-year sales forecasts for each Retained Product in each Major Market Country and in all other countries in the world as a group (and the material related assumptions used in developing such forecasts). Through its representative on the JSC, GSK will also provide an annual update on major developments (if any) in the patent protection for the Retained Products."

For the avoidance of doubt, there will be no representation of TRC on the JSC and the JSC will not discuss matters pertaining to the Assigned Collaboration Products. All other references in the Collaboration Agreement to the Joint Steering Committee (other than in Section 1.4.8) shall hereafter be deemed deleted, such that the JSC shall have no rights, powers or obligations (other than those set out in Section 3.1) and GSK alone shall assume all such rights, powers, obligations and roles previously held by the Joint Steering Committee.

- ii. Section 3.2 of the Collaboration Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following "[Reserved.]", and all other references in the Collaboration Agreement to the Joint Project Committee shall hereafter be deemed deleted, such that the Joint Project Committee shall have no rights, powers or obligations and GSK alone shall assume all such rights, powers, obligations and roles previously held by the Joint Project Committee.
- iii. Section 5.1 of the Collaboration Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following "[Reserved.]", and all other references in the Collaboration Agreement to "Marketing Plan(s)" shall hereafter have no further force or effect and shall be deemed deleted and null and void for all purposes.
- iv. Section 7.1.1 of the Collaboration Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following "[Reserved.]"
- v. Section 13.1.3 of the Collaboration Agreement shall be amended by the deletion of the following sentence: "GSK shall regularly advise Theravance of the status of all pending applications, including with respect to any hearings or other proceedings before any Governmental Authority, and, at Theravance's request, shall provide Theravance with copies of documentation relating to such applications, including all correspondence to and from any Governmental Authority."

d. <u>Amendments to Royalty Payments and Reports.</u>

- i. The following sentence of Section 6.3.1 of the Collaboration Agreement shall be deleted. "As soon as practical following the end of each Calendar Month, but in no event later than the *redacted* business day of the following month, GSK will provide Theravance with an estimate of Net Sales for such Calendar Month."
- ii. The payment terms in Section 6.3.3 of the Collaboration Agreement in relation to royalties on Assigned Collaboration Products shall be changed from within *redacted* after the end of each Calendar Quarter to within *redacted* days after the end of each Calendar Quarter. For the avoidance of doubt, the payment terms with respect to the Retained Products shall remain as set forth in the Collaboration Agreement.
- iii. Section 6.4.2 of the Collaboration Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

"Net Sales Reports.

(a) Within *redacted* days after the end of each Calendar Quarter, GSK shall submit to TRC a written report setting forth Net Sales of Assigned Collaboration Products in the Territory on a Country-by-Country basis during such Calendar Quarter, total royalty payments due TRC, any payments made to any Third Party pursuant to Section 6.4.1(a), and information regarding any prior Calendar Quarter adjustments to the royalty payments due to TRC.

- (b) Within *redacted* days after the end of each Calendar Quarter, GSK shall submit to Innoviva a written report setting forth Net Sales of Retained Products in the Territory on a Country-by-Country and Retained Product-by-Retained Product basis during such Calendar Quarter, total royalty payments due to Innoviva, and any payments made to any Third Party pursuant to Section 6.4.1(a) and information regarding any adjustments to the royalty payments due to Innoviva in respect of prior Calendar Quarters (each of the reports in Sections 6.4.2(a) and 6.4.2(b) a "Net Sales Report").
- (c) In addition to the Net Sales Reports, GSK shall provide a sales report to Innoviva within *redacted* Business Days of the end of each Calendar Quarter, which shall contain estimated Net Sales in the Territory of each Retained Product reported in US dollars, on a worldwide (i.e., not Country-by-Country) basis. This report will also specify the estimated Net Sales in the United States and the estimated aggregated Net Sales in the Territory outside the United States during such Calendar Quarter."
- e. <u>Coordination of Earnings Releases</u>. GSK agrees to provide Innoviva a draft of such portion of GSK's earnings release that relates to the Retained Products at least twenty four (24) hours prior to issuance. If requested by Innoviva, GSK agrees to have one (1) quarterly phone call in the 24 hour period after providing Innoviva a copy of the relevant portions draft press release to discuss any reasonable questions posed by Innoviva with respect thereto.

f. Trademark Matters.

- i. Section 2.3.1 of the Collaboration Agreement shall be deleted and replaced by the following:
 - "2.3.1 <u>Trademarks</u>. The Collaboration Products shall be Commercialized under trademarks (the "Trademarks") and trade dress selected by GSK. GSK shall have sole control over and exclusively own all Trademarks, and shall be responsible for the procurement, filing and maintenance of trademark registrations for such Trademarks and all costs and expenses related thereto. GSK shall also control and exclusively own all trade dress and copyrights associated with the Collaboration Products. Nothing herein shall create any ownership or decision rights of Innoviva or TRC in and to the Trademarks or the copyrights and trade dress associated with the Collaboration Products."
- ii. Sections 7.1.2 and 7.2 of the Collaboration Agreement shall no longer apply in respect of Assigned Collaboration Products. During the period from the Innoviva Closing until the date that is two (2) years thereafter, GSK may sell Assigned Collaboration Products using promotional materials, labelling, package inserts or outserts and packaging bearing Trademarks or trade dress of Innoviva. TRC shall reimburse GSK for GSK's reasonable, documented, expenses of designing, having approved and implementing new promotional materials, labelling package inserts or outserts and packaging for Assigned Collaboration Product without Innoviva Trademarks following the Innoviva Closing, including the cost of write-offs up to a maximum of \$200,000.

- g. <u>Subsequent Royalty</u>.
 - i. Section 14.9 of the Collaboration Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following "[Reserved.]"
 - ii. Section 6 of the Second Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following "[Reserved.]"
- h. For the avoidance of doubt, Assigned Collaboration Products and Retained Products shall continue to be excluded from the definition of "Competing Product" under the Collaboration Agreement.
- i. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Amendment shall change GSK's obligations under the Collaboration Agreement to pay Innoviva royalties on Net Sales of Retained Products. Other than the change in payment terms set out in Section 2 (d) (ii) above, nothing in this Amendment shall change GSK's obligations under the Collaboration Agreement requiring GSK to pay TRC royalties on Net Sales of Assigned Collaboration Products.
- 3. <u>Termination Date</u>. This Amendment shall automatically terminate and have no further force or effect without any action by any of the Parties if the Theravance EPA shall have been terminated and the Theravance Closing shall not have occurred and on such termination of this Amendment all amendments herein will be deemed null and void and of no force or effect.
- 4. <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Amendment, together with the Collaboration Agreement, constitute the full and entire understanding and agreement among the Parties with regard to the subjects hereof and thereof. References in this Amendment to other agreements or documents shall refer to such agreements or documents as they may be amended.
- 5. <u>Alternative Dispute Resolution</u>. The Parties agree that any legal proceeding to enforce or interpret any provision of this Amendment shall be conducted in accordance with Section 16.16 of the Collaboration Agreement, as amended hereby.
- 6. <u>Governing Law</u>. Except as provided otherwise herein, this Amendment shall be construed, and the respective rights of the Parties determined, according to the substantive law of the State of Delaware notwithstanding the provisions governing conflict of laws under such Delaware law to the contrary.
- 7. <u>Severability</u>. In the event of the invalidity of any provisions of this Amendment or if this Amendment contains any gaps, the Parties agree that such invalidity or gap shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions of this Amendment. The Parties will replace an invalid provision or fill any gap with valid provisions which most closely approximate the purpose and economic effect of the invalid provision or, in case of a gap, the Parties' presumed intentions. In the event that the terms and conditions of this Amendment are materially altered as a result of the preceding sentences, the Parties shall renegotiate the terms and conditions of this Amendment in order to resolve any inequities. Nothing in this Amendment shall be interpreted so as to require any Party to violate any applicable laws, rules or regulations.
- 8. <u>No Other Amendments</u>. The First Amendment, the Second Amendment and this Amendment shall be deemed to be part of and incorporated into the Collaboration Agreement. Except as expressly set forth in the First Amendment, the Second Amendment, this Amendment, all of the terms and conditions of the Collaboration Agreement shall remain unchanged, are ratified and confirmed in all respects, and remain in full force and effect.
- 9. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one instrument.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the Third Amendment Effective Date by duly their authorized representatives for good and valuable consideration.

INNOVIVA, INC.

By: /s/ Pavel Raifeld

Name: Pavel Raifeld

Title: Chief Executive Officer

GLAXO GROUP LIMITED

By: /s/ Marcus Dowling

Name: Marcus Dowling

Title: Authorized Signatory at Edinburgh Pharmaceutical

Industries Limited, Director

THERAVANCE RESPIRATORY COMPANY, LLC

By: Innoviva TRC Holdings, LLC (as Manager) By: Innoviva, Inc. (as Managing Member)

By: /s/ Pavel Raifeld

Name: Pavel Raifeld

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Innoviva Sells 15% Economic Stake in Theravance Respiratory Company to Royalty Pharma for approximately \$282 million plus full ownership of existing equity investments and the potential for \$50 million milestone payment

- Innoviva to receive approximately \$282 million in cash up front with potential \$50 million milestone payment
- Innoviva to retain TRC's full ownership in attractive private investments

BURLINGAME, Calif., July 13, 2022 -- Innoviva, Inc. (Nasdaq: INVA) ("Innoviva"), a diversified holding company with a portfolio of royalties and a growing portfolio of innovative healthcare assets, today announced that the company has entered into an agreement to sell its 15% economic stake in Theravance Respiratory Company LLC ("TRC"), which receives royalties stemming from sales of TRELEGY® ELLIPTA®, to Royalty Pharma plc (NASDAQ: RPRX) for an upfront cash payment of \$282 million and a potential \$50 million contingent sales-based milestone payment. Under the terms of the agreement, TRC also transferred to Innoviva all of TRC's ownership interests and investments in InCarda Therapeutics Inc., ImaginAb, Inc., Gate Neurosciences, Inc. and Nanolive SA. Innoviva retained its royalty rights with respect to ANORO® ELLIPTA® and RELVAR®/BREO® ELLIPTA®. The sale is expected to close in July 2022.

Theravance Biopharma, Inc. ("Theravance Biopharma") has entered into a concurrent transaction to sell its 85% economic interest in TRC to Royalty Pharma. As a part of the transaction, Innoviva, Theravance Biopharma and GSK signed customary release of claims relating to conduct prior to the closing, including with respect to prior disputes regarding TRC's investment activity.

"We are very pleased to have entered into this agreement with Royalty Pharma, a market leader in healthcare royalty acquisitions," said Pavel Raifeld, Chief Executive Officer of Innoviva. Mr. Raifeld added, "this transaction allows us to capture an attractive valuation for our share of TRELEGY® ELLIPTA® economics, enhances our cash position at a time of meaningful market dislocations, and demonstrates our continued commitment to leaving no stone unturned in our efforts to maximize shareholder value. We look forward to continuing our long-standing collaboration with GSK for RELVAR®/BREO® ELLIPTA® and ANORO® ELLIPTA®."

Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP served as legal advisor and Moelis & Company LLC served as financial advisor to Innoviva. Torreya Partners served as the financial advisor to TRC in connection with its investments in InCarda Therapeutics, ImaginAb, Gate Neurosciences and Nanolive.

About Innoviva

Innoviva is a diversified holding company with a portfolio of royalties and other healthcare assets. Innoviva's royalty portfolio includes respiratory assets partnered with Glaxo Group Limited ("GSK"), including RELVAR®/BREO® ELLIPTA® (fluticasone furoate/ vilanterol, "FF/VI"), ANORO® ELLIPTA® (umeclidinium bromide/ vilanterol, "UMEC/VI") and, formerly, TRELEGY® ELLIPTA® (the combination FF/UMEC/VI).

Under the Long-Acting Beta2 Agonist ("LABA") Collaboration Agreement, Innoviva is entitled to receive royalties from GSK on sales of RELVAR®/BREO® ELLIPTA® and ANORO® ELLIPTA®. ANORO®, RELVAR®, BREO®, TRELEGY® and ELLIPTA® are trademarks of the GSK group of companies.								

Forward Looking Statements

This press release contains certain "forward-looking" statements as that term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 regarding, among other things, statements relating to goals, plans, objectives, and future events. Innoviva intends such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The words "anticipate", "expect", "goal", "intend", "objective", "opportunity", "plan", "potential", "target" and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve substantial risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. These statements are based on the current estimates and assumptions of the management of Innoviva as of the date of this press release and are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, changes in circumstances, assumptions and other factors that may cause the actual results of Innoviva to be materially different from those reflected in the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements include, among others, risks related to: expected cost savings; lower than expected future royalty revenue from respiratory products partnered with GSK; the commercialization of RELVAR®/BREO® ELLIPTA®, ANORO® ELLIPTA® and, formerly, TRELEGY® ELLIPTA® in the jurisdictions in which these products have been approved; the strategies, plans and objectives of Innoviva (including Innoviva's growth strategy and corporate development initiatives beyond the existing respiratory portfolio); the timing, manner, and amount of potential capital returns to shareholders; the status and timing of clinical studies, data analysis and communication of results; the potential benefits and mechanisms of action of product candidates; expectations for product candidates through development and commercialization; the timing of regulatory approval of product candidates; and projections of revenue, expenses and other financial items; the impact of the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19"). Other risks affecting Innoviva are described under the headings "Risk Factors" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" contained in Innoviva's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, which are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") and available on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. Past performance is not necessarily indicative of future results. No forward-looking statements can be guaranteed, and actual results may differ materially from such statements. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The information in this press release is provided only as of the date hereof, and Innoviva assumes no obligation to update its forward-looking statements on account of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

Innoviva Contacts:

Argot Partners (212) 600-1902 innoviva@argotpartners.com

Document and Entity Information

Jul. 13, 2022

Cover [Abstract]

Document Type 8-K
Amendment Flag false

<u>Document Period End Date</u>
<u>Entity Registrant Name</u>

Jul. 13, 2022

INNOVIVA, INC.

Entity Incorporation, State or Country Code DE

Entity File Number 000-30319 Entity Tax Identification Number 94-3265960

Entity Address, Address Line One 1350 Old Bayshore Highway

Entity Address, Address Line Two
Entity Address, City or Town
Suite 400
Burlingame

Entity Address, State or Province CA Entity Address, Postal Zip Code 94010 City Area Code 650 Local Phone Number 238-9600 Written Communications false Soliciting Material false Pre-commencement Tender Offer false Pre-commencement Issuer Tender Offer false **Entity Emerging Growth Company** false

Entity Central Index Key 0001080014

<u>Title of 12(b) Security</u> Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share

Trading SymbolINVASecurity Exchange NameNASDAQ

```
"instance": {
  "ny20004305x24_8k.htm": {
    "axistandard": 0,
    "contextCount": 1,
    "das": {
        "inline": {
        "incal": {
        "ny20004305x24_8k.htm"
    }
}
                             ),
"labelLink": (
"local": [
"inva-20220713_lab.xml"
                             ),
"presentationLink": {
  "local": [
  "inva-20220713_pre.xml"
                     1,
    "elementCount": 29,
    "antityCount": 1,
    "hidden": (
    "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021": 2,
    "total": 2
                  "todal", 2
'approach", 0,
"approach", 0,
"approach", 0,
"approach", 0,
"approach", 0,
"approach", 0,
"approach", 1,
"approach"
                             "Boody",
"Phona"
"Deasher" "ny2000430524 St.htm",
"ContextEnd"" "ny2000430524 St.htm",
"Secintarity mult,
"Secintarity mult,
"Secintarity mult,
"Secintarity mult,
"Secintarity mult,
"Secintarity mult,
"Secintarity "Secintarity mult,
"Secondarity "Secintarity "Secinta
                                        "html"
"baseRef": "ny20004305x24_8k.htm",
"contexthef": "c20220713t020220713",
"dacinals": null,
"finit': regions
"hame': "dailDocumentType",
"exportCount:
"munique": true,
"munique": true,
"munithef": null,
"saiNil": "false"
                             }

separations**: 0, 

**Lap**: {

**Lap**
                                    |,
"localname": "AmendmentFlag",
"nsur!": "http://kbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInformation
                                    l,
"xbrltype": "booleanItemType"
                                    ,dai_CityAreaCode": {
   "auth_ref": [],
   "auth_ref": [],
   "lang": {
   "en-us": {
    "documentation": "Area code of city",
    "label": "City Area Code"
                                    ),
"localname": "CityAreaCode",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityIni
                                1,
  "xbrltype": "normalizedStringItemType"
                             ],

"dei_CoverAbstract": {

"auth_ref": [],

"lang": [

"en-us": [

"role": [

"documentation": "Cover page.",

"label": "Cover [Abstract]"
                                ),
"localname": "CoverAbstract",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"xbrltype": "stringItemType"
                                "Mily " "atting tempye"

"did | Document Fiscal Priod Focus" |

"stap" = (
"s
                                "localname": "DocumentFiscalPeriodFocus",
"nauri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityI
],
                                    l,
"xbrltype": "fiscalPeriodItemType"
                             "MailtyPer' "Inscription(Interpys"
"And DocumentInscriptions")
"And DocumentInscriptions";
"And DocumentInscriptions";
"And DocumentInscriptions of the document report in YTTY for "Inhalt". Toolsens Tiscal Year Forces"
                                    |,
"localname": "DocumentFiscalYearFocus",
"nsuri": "http://sbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInformation"
"
                                    l,
"xbrltype": "gYearItemType"
                                ],
"dei_DocumentPeriodEndDate": {
"auth_ref": [],
"lang": {
"en-us": {
"role": {
"documentation": "For the E
```

```
),
"localname": "DocumentPeriodEndDate",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntity
 l,
"xbrltype": "dateItemType"
"localname": "DocumentType",
"localname": "bttp://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInformation"]
],
   l,
"xbrltype": "submissionTypeItemType"
 )-
dois EntityAddressAddressLinel*: {
"auth_caf* [],
"auth_caf* [],
"auth_caf* [],
"auth_caf* [],
"dois-caf* [],
"dois-caf* [],
"dois-caf* [],
"documentation*: "Address Line I such as Atts, Building Name, Street Name",
"label*: "Entity Address, Address Line One"]
   },
"localname": "EntityAddressAddressLinel",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInform.
   'dei EntityAddressAddressLine2": [
"auth_ref": [],
"lang": [
"en-us": [
"fole": [
"documentation": "Address Line 2 such as Street or Suite number,
"label": "Entity Address, Address Line Two
   ],
"localname": "EntityAddressAddressLine2",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityIn:].
   l,
"xbrltype": "normalizedStringItemType"
   "marrays" 'Tournal remoting contype
dod. EntityAddressAddressLine3": {
"mach ref": [],
"lang": {
"marray: [
"marray: [
"marray: [
"marray: [
"documentation": "Address Line 3 such as an Office Park",
"label": "Entity Address, Address Line Three"
   ],
"localname": "EntityAddressAddressLine3",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityIn],
   l,
"xbrltype": "normalizedStringItemType"
   "Moretypes" normalizating/temype"
dad_EntipAddressCityOrTown"; {
"muth_red"; [],
"mang"; [
"en-us"; [
"role"; [],
"documentation"; "Name of the City or Town",
"label"; "Entity Address, City or Town",
 ),
"localname": "EntityAddressCityOrTown",
"nauri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityIn
 l,
"xbrltype": "normalizedStringItemType"
],

dai EntityAddressCountry": {

"suth red": [],

"lang": {

"en-us": {

"cols": [

"documentation": "ISO 3166-1 alpha-2 country code.",

"label": "Entity Address, Country"
 ),
"localname": "EntityAddressCountry",
"nauri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://nva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInformation"
   ddd EntityddrasaPostalEipCode": {
"auth ref": []
"anop": [
"en-us": [
"cole": [
"documentation": "Code for the postal or zip code",
"iabol": "Entity Address, Postal Zip Code",
   ],
"localname": "EntityAddressPostalZipCode",
"nsuri": "http://sbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInf
   l,
"xbrltype": "normalizedStringItemType"
   "mortypes" "mormalizedfringftenfypes"
doi. EntityddesseStatoProvinces: {
"marb.ref": []
"lang": {
"marb.ref": []
"denses: {
"denses: {
"denses: {
"should: "denses: {
"tabel": "Entity Address, State or Province.",
"label": "Entity Address, State or Province.",
   ),
"localname": "EntityAddressStateOrProvince",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInfor]
   l,
"xbrltype": "stateOrProvinceItemType"
 "mix:ype" "statourrounsteenype"
"mix!yar" {
"mix!yar" {
"fet"
"fet
   },
"localname": "EntityCentralIndexKey",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInfo"]
   1,
"xbrltype": "centralIndexKeyItemType"
     ,
dei_EntityEmergingGrowthCompany": {
"auth_ref": {
"r5"
 "localname": "EntityEmergingGrowthCompany",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInfl.
     l,
"xbrltype": "booleanItemType"
 designations of the profit of 
   },
"localname": "EntityFileNumber",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInfo
 1,
"xbrltype": "fileNumberItemType"
 ],
"dei_EntityIncorporationStateCountryCode": {
   "auth_ref": [],
   "lano": {
```

```
"Men-us":[
"fools":[
"documentation": "No-character EDGAR code representing the state or country of incorporation.",
"label:" Emnity Incorporation, State or Country Code"
    ),
"localname": "EntityIncorporationStateCountryCode",
"nsurf": "http://kbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://lnva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInformation"
    l,
"xbrltype": "edgarStateCountryItemType"
  "Isang": [
"Renum": [
"Anni": The exact name of the entity filing the report as specified in its charter, which is required by forms filed with the SEC.",
"Tabel": "Entity Registrant Name"

1 "Tabel": "Entity Registrant Name"
    ),
"localname": "EntityRegistrantName",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInformat
],
    1,
"xbrltype": "normalizedStringItemType"
      ],
"localname": "EntityTaxIdentificationNumber",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dsi/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInformation"
    1,
"xbrltype": "employerIdItemType"
    },
"localname": "LocalPhoneNumber",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInfo],
    1,
"xbrltype": "normalizedStringItemType"
    "Maritype" "mormalisadiringitenType"

"Marity Marity Marit
    1,
"xbrltype": "booleanItemType"
    rms:syst: "monismanfisher"pe"

fdat PreCommencementIssussTenderOffer": {
    "stath per": "Monismanfisher for stath per stath p
      ],
"localname": "PreCommencementIssuerTenderOffer",
"nsurf": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInformati
    "xbrltype": "booleanItemType"
        dei_PreCommencementTenderOffer": {
"auth_ref": [
"r3"
      },
"localname": "PreCommencementTenderOffer",
"nauri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInf
],
    l,
"xbrltype": "booleanItemType"
    ),
"dei_Securityl2bTitle": {
"auth_ref": {
"r0"
"EU"
Jalog": [
"General": [
"Fole": [
"documentation": "Title of 17(b) registered security.",
"label": "Title of 17(b) Security"
    },
"localname": "Securityl2bTitle",
"nauri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInfo 1.
      1,
"xbrltype": "securityTitleItemType"
    "dei_SecurityExchangeName": {
   "auth_ref": {
    "rl"
localname": "SecurityExchangeName",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityInf]
],
    1,
"xbrltype": "edgarExchangeCodeItenType"
  ),
"dei_SolicitingMaterial": {
  "auth_ref": {
    "r4"
  "fatage": [
"fatage: [
"
      |,
"localname": "SolicitingMaterial",
"nsuri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/bocumentAndEntityInformation" |,
      l,
"xbrltype": "booleanItemType"
  "Martippe" Tooleantempys"
"dell Fraingsbelt" [
"Bendig" [
"Bendig"
    "localname": "TradingSymbol",
"nauri": "http://xbrl.sec.gov/dei/2021",
"presentation": [
"http://inva.com/role/DocumentAndEntityIni
],
      1,
"whrltung": "tradingSumbolItemTung"
      'dei_WrittenCommunications": {
  "auth_ref": [
  "r6"
```

```
"Sociometation": Tholisen fleg that is true when the Form %-E filing is intended to satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant as written communications pursuant to Rule 475 under the Securities Act.", "Intelligent Partition Communications", "Intelligent Partition Communications, "Intelligent Partition Communications
```